B-cell activating factor as an immunological marker of disease outcome and treatment response in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection



A Dissertation Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Medical Biochemistry Department of Biochemistry Faculty of Medicine Chulalongkorn University Academic Year 2018 Copyright of Chulalongkorn University บทบาทของตัวบ่งชี้ทางระบบภูมิคุ้มกันของ B cell activating factor ในการทำนายการดำเนินของ โรคและการตอบสนองต่อการรักษาในผู้ป่วยที่ติดเชื้อไวรัสตับอักเสบบีแบบเรื้อรัง



วิทยานิพนธ์นี้เป็นส่วนหนึ่งของการศึกษาตามหลักสูตรปริญญาวิทยาศาสตรดุษฎีบัณฑิต สาขาวิชาชีวเคมีทางการแพทย์ ภาควิชาชีวเคมี คณะแพทยศาสตร์ จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย ปีการศึกษา 2561 ลิขสิทธิ์ของจุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

| Co Advisor | Professor Nattiya Hirankarn, M.D., Ph.D. |
|--------------------|---|
| Thesis Advisor | Professor Pisit Tangkijvanich, M.D. |
| Field of Study | Medical Biochemistry |
| Ву | Miss Apichaya Khlaiphuengsin |
| | s B virus infection |
| | and treatment response in patients with chronic hepatiti |
| | ase outcome |
| | cell activating factor as an immunological marker of dise |
| Dissertation Title | B- |

Accepted by the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirement for the Doctor of Philosophy

A

(Professor Suttipong Wacharasindhu, M.D.)

DISSERTATION COMMITTEE

| 191 | |
|-----------------------|------------------------------|
| 24 | Chairman |
| (Professor Sittisak H | Honsawek, M.D., Ph.D.) |
| Y W 1610113 | Advisor |
| (Professor Pisit Tan | gkijvanich, M.D.) |
| | Co-Advisor |
| (Professor Nattiya H | Hirankarn, M.D., Ph.D.) |
| | Examiner |
| (Associate Professo | r Sunchai Payungporn, Ph.D.) |
| | External Examiner |
| (Assistant Professor | r Ingorn Kimkong, Ph.D.) |

อภิชญา คล้ายพึ่งสินธุ์ : บทบาทของตัวบ่งชี้ทางระบบภูมิคุ้มกันของ B cell activating factor ใน การทำนายการดำเนินของโรคและการตอบสนองต่อการรักษาในผู้ป่วยที่ติดเชื้อไวรัสตับอักเสบบีแบบ เรื้อรัง. (B-cell activating factor as an immunological marker of disease outcome and treatment response in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection) อ.ที่ปรึกษา หลัก : ศ. นพ.พิสิฐ ตั้งกิจวานิชย์, อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม : ศ. ดร. พญ.ณัฏฐิยา หิรัญกาญจน์

B-cell activating factor (BAFF) เป็นไขโตไคน์ที่สำคัญชนิดหนึ่งในการกระตุ้นการทำงานของ B cell ซึ่งอาจจะมี ความสำคัญในการทำนายการดำเนินของโรค และการตอบสนองต่อการรักษาด้วยยา pegylated interferon (peg-IFN) ของผู้ป่วย ไวรัสดับอักเสบบีแบบเรื้อรัง การศึกษานี้มีวัตถุประสงค์เพื่อหาความสำคัญของ BAFF, BAFF receptor และความหลากหลายทาง พันธุกรรมของยีนนี้ในการทำนายการดำเนินของโรคและการตอบสนองต่อการรักษาของผู้ป่วยไวรัสดับอักเสบบีแบบเรื้อรัง และผู้ป่วย มะเร็งดับที่มีสาเหตุมาจากการติดเชื้อไวรัสดับอักเสบบี จากผลของการศึกษานี้ พบว่าระดับการแสดงออกของ BAFF ที่น้อยนั้น สัมพันธ์กับการตอบสนองต่อการรักษาในกลุ่มผู้ป่วยไวรัสดับอักเสบบี จากผลของการศึกษานี้ พบว่าระดับการแสดงออกของ BAFF ที่น้อยนั้น สัมพันธ์กับการตอบสนองต่อการรักษาในกลุ่มผู้ป่วยไวรัสดับอักเสบบี แบบเรื้อรังนั้น และการแสดงออกของ BAFF นั้นจะเพิ่มขึ้นเมื่อ ผู้ป่วยได้รับยา peg-IFN และลดลงเมื่อหยุดการรักษา นอกจากนี้ ผู้ป่วยมะเร็งตับที่มีสาเหตุจากการติดเชื้อไวรัสดับอักเสบบีมีระดับ การแสดงออกของ BAFF สูงกว่ากลุ่มผู้ป่วยไวรัสดับอักเสบบีแบบเรื้อรังและกลุ่มคนปกติ และยังพบว่าความถิ่ของ single nucleotide polymorphism (SNP) ของยืน BAFF ณ ตำแหน่ง rs9514828 จีโนไทป์ CT+TT ในกลุ่มผู้ป่วยไวรัสดับอักเสบบีแบบ เรื้อรังนั้นมากกว่ากลุ่มคนปกติด้วย โดยสรุปแล้ว การศึกษาในครั้งนี้พบว่าการแสดงออกของ BAFF ในปริมาณน้อมีความสัมพันธ์กับ การทำนายการรักษาผู้ป่วยไวรัสตับอักเสบบีแบบเรื้อรังด้วยยา peg-IFN ตรงกันข้ามกับการแสดงออกของ BAFF ในปริมาณมากมี ความสัมพันธ์กับการดำเนินของโรคในผู้ป่วยมะเร็งตับที่เกิดจากการติดเชื้อไวรัสตับอักเสบบี รวมถึงการอัตราการรอดชีวิตในผู้ป่วย ดังนั้น BAFF มีบทบาทหนึ่งที่สำคัญในการทำนายผลของการรักษา รวมไปถึงเกี่ยวข้องกับการเจริญเติบโตของมะเร็งและการดำเนิน ของโรคด้วย



สาขาวิชา ชีวเคมีทางการแพทย์ ปีการศึกษา 2561

| ลายมือชื่อ | นิสิต |
|------------|-----------------|
| ลายมือชื่อ | อ.ที่ปรึกษาหลัก |
| ลายมือชื่อ | อ.ที่ปรึกษาร่วม |

5774769230 : MAJOR MEDICAL BIOCHEMISTRY

KEYWORD:

Chronic hepatitis B virus (CHB), hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), B –cell-activating factor (BAFF), a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL), B cell maturation antigen (BCMA), transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI), BAFF receptor (BAFFR), pegylated interferon (PEG-IFN)

Apichaya Khlaiphuengsin : B-cell activating factor as an immunological marker of disease outcome and treatment response in patients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Advisor: Prof. Pisit Tangkijvanich, M.D., Prof. Nattiya Hirankarn, M.D., Ph.D.

B-cell activating factor (BAFF), an important cytokine for B lymphocyte activation that implicated in the pathogenesis and disease progression chronic hepatitis B (CHB) patients. This study aimed at evaluating clinical correlation and prognostic role of plasma BAFF, BAFF receptor and related polymorphisms in patients with CHB undergoing pegylated interferon (peg-IFN) treatment and HBV-related hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). This study shown that BAFF levels were elevated during treatment but decreased to pre-treatment levels after peg-IFN cessation in HBeAg-positive CHB patients. Patients with HCC had significantly higher BAFF levels compared with the non-HCC group and healthy controls. Moreover, the frequency of rs9514828 CT+TT genotypes were higher distributed in patients with chronic HBV infection compared with healthy controls. In summary, low baseline BAFF was associated with treatment response to peg-IFN and high baseline BAFF levels showed clinical correlation in terms of disease severity and overall survival in HBV-related HCC patients. These data suggest that BAFF may play an essential role in predicting a treatment response and promoting tumor development and progression.



Field of Study: Academic Year: Medical Biochemistry 2018

Student's Signature Advisor's Signature

Co-advisor's Signature

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First and foremost, I would like to express my very great appreciation to my thesis advisor, Prof. Pisit Tangkijvanich and my co-advisor, Prof. Dr. Nattiya Hirankarn for their continuous support of my Ph.D. study, valuable suggestions and comments every step to improve my research skills. I would like to offer my special thanks to Assoc. Prof. Sunchai Payungporn and Dr. Pimpayao Sodsai for their advice and provide me with all the necessary facilities for the research.

I am particularly grateful for the assistance given by my co-worker at Center of Excellence in Hepatitis and Liver Cancer and Center Excellence in Immunology and Immunemediated Disease Center, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University. I won't be able to complete this study without their help.

I must also acknowledge Prof. Sharon R. Lewin and Dr. Megan Crane from the Royal Melbourne Hospital at the Peter Doherty Institute for Infection and Immunity, The University of Melbourne, Melbourne, Australia for their suggestions and provision of scholarship to study aboard and learn something new.

I would like to express my great appreciation to the funding from the 100th Anniversary Chulalongkorn University Fund for Doctoral Scholarship, the 90th Anniversary Chulalongkorn University Fund (Ratchadaphiseksomphot Endowment Fund) and Center of Excellence in Hepatitis and Liver Cancer, Chulalongkorn University, which provide me an opportunity to do the research and study in Ph.D. program.

I would also like to thanks my friends and staff at two colleagues, Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Science, Kasetsart University and Department of Biochemistry, Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University.

Last but not least, I would like to thanks my family for their unconditional love, sacrifices, understanding and encouragement during my entire study life. I am really grateful to my partner who supported me through that difficult times.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| Page | 9 |
|------------------------------|---|
| | |
| ABSTRACT (THAI)iii | |
| iv | |
| ABSTRACT (ENGLISH)iv | |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTSv | |
| TABLE OF CONTENTSvi | |
| LIST OF TABLESx | |
| LIST OF FIGURESxi | |
| LIST OF ABBREVIATIONSxiv | |
| Chapter I Introduction | |
| 1.1 Background and rational | |
| 1.2 Research questions | |
| 1.3 Objectives | |
| 1.4 Hypothesis | |
| 1.5 Conceptual framework | |
| 1.6 Study design | |
| 1.7 Keywords | |
| 1.8 Benefits of study | |
| Chapter II Literature Review | |
| 2.1 Hepatitis B virus (HBV) | |
| 2.1.1 Epidemiology of HBV | |

| 2.1.2 Molecular virology of HBV | 9 |
|--|----|
| 2.1.3 The life cycle of HBV | 10 |
| 2.1.4 Current HBV therapies | 11 |
| 2.2 Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) | 12 |
| 2.2.1 Epidemiology of HCC | 12 |
| 2.2.2 HCC staging | 12 |
| 2.2.3 HCC treatment options | 13 |
| 2.2.4 Risk factors for HCC | 14 |
| 2.3 Immune response | 14 |
| 2.3.1 Innate immunity | 15 |
| 2.3.2 Adaptive immunity | 16 |
| 2.3.2.1 T cells or T lymphocytes | 16 |
| 2.3.2.2 B cells or B lymphocytes | 16 |
| 2.4 B –cell-activating factor (BAFF) and a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL) | 21 |
| 2.4.1 Ligand | 21 |
| 2.4.2 Receptor | 21 |
| 2.4.3 BAFF single nucleotide polymorphisms | 24 |
| Chapter III Materials and Methods | 26 |
| 3.1. Materials | 26 |
| 3.2. Equipments | 26 |
| 3.3. Reagents | 27 |
| 3.4. Study population | 29 |
| 3.5. Serological and virological assays | 31 |
| 3.6. Sample collection and preparation | 31 |

| | 3.7. Methods | 32 |
|----|--|-------|
| | 3.7.1 DNA extraction | 32 |
| | 3.7.2 RNA and cDNA synthesis | 32 |
| | 3.7.3 Quantitative Real-time polymerase chain reaction (Real-time PCR) | 32 |
| | 3.7.4 BAFF polymorphism | 35 |
| | 3.7.5 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) | 37 |
| | 3.7.6 Flow Cytometry | 37 |
| | 3.7.7 Cell culture | 38 |
| | 3.8. Data Analysis | 38 |
| Cł | napter IV Results | 39 |
| | 4.1 Baseline patient characteristics | 39 |
| | 4.2 Baseline plasma BAFF levels between studied groups | 42 |
| | 4.2.1 Baseline plasma BAFF levels in relation to disease progression | 42 |
| | 4.2.2 Baseline levels of BAFF in relation to treatment outcome | 44 |
| | 4.3 Plasma BAFF kinetics in relation to combined response | 47 |
| | 4.3 BAFF mRNA expression in relation to disease progression | 48 |
| | 4.4 Cut-off values of baseline BAFF between studied groups | 49 |
| | 4.4.1 Cut-off values of baseline BAFF and clinical parameters in HCC patient | ts 49 |
| | 4.4.2 Cut-off values of baseline BAFF in predicting combined response | 51 |
| | 4.5 HBsAg kinetics in relation to baseline plasma BAFF levels | 54 |
| | 4.6 Distribution of BAFF polymorphisms | 54 |
| | 4.7 Factors associated with overall survival of patients with HCC | 56 |
| | 4.8 Flow cytometry | 60 |
| | 4.8.1 Gaing strategies for B cell subpopulations and BAFF receptors | 60 |
| | | |

| 4.8.2 The percentages of total CD19 ⁺ B cells and PD-L1 on CD19 ⁺ B cells 62 |
|---|
| 4.8.3 The percentages of transitional B cell (CD19 ⁺ CD24 ^{hi} CD38 ^{hi}) and PD-L1 on transitional B cell (CD19 ⁺ CD24 ^{hi} CD38 ^{hi})63 |
| |
| 4.8.4 The percentages of B cell subpopulations and three BAFF receptors 64 |
| 4.9 The expression of BAFF induced by IFN stimulation in an <i>in vitro</i> study70 |
| 4.9.1 The expression of BAFF mRNA in HepG2 and HepG2.2.15 cell lines |
| 4.9.2 BAFF mRNA levels induced in response to interferon- $oldsymbol{lpha}$ (IFN- $oldsymbol{lpha}$) in |
| HepG2.2.15 cells |
| 4.9.3 The effect of interferon and rhBAFF in HepG2.2.15 cells |
| Chapter V Discussion |
| Chapter VI Conclusion |
| REFERENCES |
| VITA |
| |
| จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย |
| Chulalongkorn University |

LIST OF TABLES

| Table 1 Primer sequences used for mRNA expression |
|---|
| Table 2 The PCR condition used for BAFF and beta-globin gene amplification |
| Table 3 The PCR condition used for GAPDH gene amplification |
| Table 4 Primer sequences used for DNA |
| Table 5 The PCR condition used for HBV S gene amplification |
| Table 6 Primer sequences used for BAFF promoter amplification |
| Table 7 The PCR condition used for BAFF promoter amplification |
| Table 8 Baseline characteristics of all subjects in the study |
| Table 9 Baseline characteristics of HBeAg positive patients in relation to combined |
| response |
| Table 10 Relationship between plasma BAFF levels and characteristics of patients |
| with HCC |
| Table 11 Logistic regression analysis of baseline characteristics to predict combined |
| response |
| Table 12 Prevalence of polymorphisms in studied groups |
| Table 13 Factors associated with overall survival in patients with HCC |

LIST OF FIGURES

| Figure 1 Epidermiology of HBV | . 8 |
|--|-----|
| Figure 2 Genome of hepatitis B virus (HBV) | . 9 |
| Figure 3 Hepatitis B life cycle | 10 |
| Figure 4 Incidence rates of HCC 1 | 12 |
| Figure 5 Barcelona-Clinic Liver-Cancer (BCLC) Staging System | 13 |
| Figure 6 The natural course of chronic hepatitis B (CHB) 1 | 15 |
| Figure 7 B cell development | 17 |
| Figure 8 B cell functions | 18 |
| Figure 9 Regulatory B cell function | 19 |
| Figure 10 CD28 family members and theirs ligands | 20 |
| Figure 11 BAFF, APRIL and their binding to BAFFR, TACI and BCMA | 22 |
| Figure 12 Signaling pathway of BAFF bind to their receptor; BAFFR (left) and TACI or | |
| BCMA (right) | 22 |
| Figure 13 Signaling pathway of BAFF when bind to BAFFR | 23 |
| Figure 14 Schematic figure of the location of BAFF polymorphism at position –871 | |
| C>T in the promoter region | 25 |
| Figure 15 The G * Power calculator for BAFF levels analysis | 30 |
| Figure 16 Agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR product after digested with 10U/ μ L of | |
| BsrBI restriction enzyme | 36 |
| Figure 17 Plasma BAFF levels in each group of patients and healthy controls | 12 |
| Figure 18 Plasma BAFF levels in IC and IA phase | 13 |
| Figure 19 Plasma BAFF levels in HBeAg negative and positive | 13 |
| Figure 20 Plasma BAFF levels in patients with and without fibrosis | 14 |

| Figure 21 Plasma BAFF levels in relation to treatment outcome (A) viral response |
|--|
| (VR), (B) combine response (CR) and (C) HBsAg clearance |
| Figure 22 Plasma APRIL levels in relation to treatment outcome (A) viral response |
| (VR), (B) combine response (CR) and (C) HBsAg clearance |
| Figure 23 Correlations between baseline plasma levels of BAFF and APRIL |
| Figure 24 Kinetic of BAFF levels during Peg-IFN treatment |
| Figure 25 BAFF mRNA expression levels in Healthy individual, CHB and HCC patients |
| |
| Figure 26 The area under ROC curves (AUROC) of BAFF association with combined |
| response (CR) |
| Figure 27 The area under ROC curves (AUROC) of APRIL association with combined |
| response (CR) |
| Figure 28 Relationship between baseline BAFF levels and HBsAg decline |
| Figure 29 Association of BAFF polymorphisms and BAFF mRNA expression levels (A) |
| rs9514828 (B) rs12583006 |
| Figure 30 Overall survival of patients with HCC according to plasma BAFF levels 57 |
| Figure 31 Overall survival of patients with HCC according to BAFF polymorphisms (A) |
| rs9514828 (B) <i>rs</i> 1258300657 |
| Figure 32 Gating strategies for the characterization of B cell subpopulations and BAFF |
| receptors; BAFFR, TACI and BCMA61 |
| Figure 33 Peripheral blood CD19 ⁺ B cell levels in healthy controls, chronic HBV |
| patients and HBV-related HCC patients62 |
| Figure 34 Levels of PD-L1 expression on CD19+ B cells (A) percentages, (B) Mean |
| fluorescence intensity (MFI) |
| Figure 35 The percentages of transitional B cell (CD19 ⁺ CD24 ^{hi} CD38 ^{hi}) in healthy |
| controls, chronic HBV patients and HBV-related HCC patients63 |

| Figure 36 Levels of PD-L1 expression on transitional B cells (CD19 ⁺ CD24 ^{hi} CD38 ^{hi})64 |
|--|
| Figure 37 Circulating B cell subpopulations in healthy controls, chronic HBV patients and HBV-related HCC patients (A) % of naïve B cells, (B) % of effector B cells, (C) % of memory B cells and (D) % of plasmablast B cells |
| Figure 38 Percentages (left) and mean fluorescense intensity (MFI) (right) of BAFF receptor on naïve B cells (A) BAFFR, (B) TACI and (C) BCMA |
| Figure 39 Percentages (left) and mean fluorescense intensity (MFI) (right) of BAFF receptor on effector B cells (A) BAFFR, (B) TACI and (C) BCMA |
| Figure 40 Percentages (left) and mean fluorescense intensity (MFI) (right) of BAFF receptor on memory B cells (A) BAFFR, (B) TACI and (C) BCMA |
| Figure 41 Percentages (left) and mean fluorescense intensity (MFI) (right) of BAFF receptor on plasmablast (A) BAFFR, (B) TACI and (C) BCMA |
| Figure 42 The expression of BAFF mRNA in HepG2 and HepG2.2.15 cells |
| Figure 43 BAFF expression in HepG2.2.15 cells in response to IFN- $lpha$ stimulation (A) |
| Dose-dependent of IFN- α on BAFF expression in HepG2.2.15 (B) Time-dependent of |
| IFN- α on BAFF expression in HepG2.2.15 |
| Figure 44 HBV S mRNA expression in HepG2.2.15-treated cells71 |

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

| СНВ | Chronic hepatitis B |
|---------|---|
| HCC | Hepatocellular carcinoma |
| Peg-IFN | Pegylated interferon |
| HBeAg | Hepatitis B virus e antigen |
| HBsAg | Hepatitis B surface antigen |
| BAFF | B cell activating factor family |
| APRIL | A proliferation-inducing ligand |
| BAFFR | BAFF receptor |
| TACI | Transmembrane activator and CAML interactor |
| BCMA | B cell maturation antigen |
| PD-1 | Programmed death-1 |
| PD-L1 | Programmed death ligand-1 |
| IL-10 | Interleukin-1 |
| AST | Aspartate aminotransferase |
| ALT | Alanine aminotransferase |
| AFP | Alpha fetoprotein |
| PC | Precore |
| BCP | Basic core promoter |
| BCLC | Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer |
| FIB-4 | Fibrosis-4 index |
| IA | Immune active phase |
| IC | Immune clearance phase |
| CR | Combined response |
| VR | Virological response |

Chapter I

Introduction

1.1 Background and rational

Chronic hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is a leading cause of chronic hepatitis B (CHB), liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). Although, the success of effective HBV vaccine and treatment with pegylated interferon (peg-IFN) and/or nucleos(t)ide analogues may control virus, it does not induce complete clearance (Tangkijvanich et al., 2016). The immune responses to viral antigens are involved in viral clearance and viral pathogenesis, including innate and adaptive immune response. In adaptive immune response, T cells have been mostly investigated in chronic HBV infection. On the other hand, B cells are also involved in the immune response of HBV infection but now there are only a few related studies focusing on them.

B cells play an important role in adaptive immunity by producing specific antibodies, inducing immunomodulatory cytokines or chemokines and influencing the T-cell response (Lu, 2013). Differentiation and proliferation of B cells are regulated by various cytokines such as a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL) and B cell-activating factor (BAFF, also known as BLys or TALL-1). B cell activating factor of the tumor necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily (BAFF) is mainly produced by neutrophils, monocytes and dendritic cells (DCs) in response to interferon and pathogens (Lied & Berstad, 2011). Its primary function is to promote the survival and maturation of B cells and plasma cells and is essential for antigen-specific antibody-production.

BAFF and APRIL have been shown to interact with 2 receptors with different affinity including B cell maturation antigen (BCMA) and transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI). In addition, BAFF binds to the third receptor called BAFF receptor (BAFFR). Interaction between these ligands and receptors activates classical and alternative NF-κB pathway (Mackay, Schneider, Rennert, & Browning, 2003). Their receptors have a critical role in many diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), which show BCMA act as a regulator of B cell homeostasis and this receptor also correlates with disease severity (Salazar-Camarena et al., 2016). Furthermore, many previous studies have shown that ligands especially BAFF are elevated in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Salazar-Camarena et al., 2016), rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (Cheema, Roschke, Hilbert, & Stohl, 2001), Sjogren's syndrome (Gottenberg et al., 2005), hepatitis C virus (HCV) (Lake-Bakaar, Jacobson, & Talal, 2012; Novak et al., 2006; Rustgi et al., 2009; Sene et al., 2007; Tarantino et al., 2009), Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) (He, Raab-Traub, Casali, & Cerutti, 2003) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection (Rodriguez et al., 2003; Stohl et al., 2002).

There have been only few studies of BAFF involving chronic HBV infection and they revealed that serum BAFF was significantly increased in patients with CHB when compared with healthy control and it was a stepwise increase according to the disease progression such as liver cirrhosis and HCC (Yang et al., 2014). Another study showed that BAFF was up-regulated in liver tissue of CHB patients treated with peg-IFN. The up-regulated genes might be important in disease pathogenesis and could be used as a marker for predicting disease prognosis and treatment response to peg-IFN therapy (H. L. Wu et al., 2016). Furthermore, a recent study found that serum BAFF levels in patients with HBeAg positive CHB were higher than patients with HBeAg negative CHB, indicating that HBeAg could promote the expression of BAFF and enhance B cell activation in CHB patients (B. Lu et al., 2017).

Genetic variations in the BAFF gene have been found to affect gene expression levels and associated with disease severity (Kawasaki, Tsuchiya, Fukazawa, Hashimoto, & Tokunaga, 2002; Nezos et al., 2014; A. J. Novak et al., 2009). A recent interesting study in autoimmune disease also revealed that an insertion-deletion variant of BAFF was associated with an increased BAFF production due to a shorter transcript that escaped microRNA inhibition (Steri et al., 2017). Although a recent study in patients with CHB did not find a correlation between BAFF polymorphisms and serum BAFF levels, the report showed that the polymorphisms were associated with disease severity (Han et al., 2017).

The objectives of this study are to demonstrate circulating mRNA and protein levels of BAFF in patients with various stages of chronic HBV infection and their correlation with clinical outcomes including disease activity and HCC development. In this regard, BAFF polymorphisms and the expression of BAFF receptors will be further examined. Another objective is to investigate the relationship between circulating BAFF levels and treatment outcome of patients with CHB receiving peg-IFN therapy. In this respect, the molecular mechanism of IFN in relation to BAFF expression will be further explored in an *in vitro* study.

1.2 Research questions

1.2.1 Does BAFF regarding its circulating levels, polymorphisms and ligands/receptors associate with clinical outcomes in patients with chronic HBV infection?

1.2.2 Does kinetics of circulating BAFF levels associate with treatment response to peg-IFN in patients with chronic HBV infection?

1.3 Objectives

1.3.1 To investigate circulating mRNA and protein levels of BAFF in patients with chronic HBC infection and their correlation with clinical outcomes including disease activity and HCC development.

1.3.2 To investigate the relationship between BAFF polymorphisms with circulating BAFF expression levels and clinical outcome of patients with chronic HBV infection.

1.3.3 To evaluate the association of BAFF ligands/receptors on B cell subsets according to clinical outcome of patients with chronic HBV infection.

1.3.4 To investigate the kinetics of BAFF in patients with CHB treated with peg-IFN

1.3.5 To explore molecular mechanisms of IFN stimulation in relation to BAFF expression in an *in vitro* study

1.4 Hypothesis

1.4.1 BAFF mRNA levels correlate with protein levels and their expression are different in various clinical stages of patients with chronic HBV infection

1.4.2 BAFF polymorphisms associate with circulating BAFF levels and patients' clinical outcome

1.4.3 BAFF ligands/receptors on B cell subsets are different in various clinical stages of patients with chronic HBV infection

1.4.4 Baseline and on-therapy of BAFF levels are different between responders and non-responders in patients with CHB treated with peg-IFN

1.4.5 The expression of BAFF induced by IFN stimulation could affect the viral production in an *in vitro* study



Chulalongkorn University

1.5 Conceptual framework



1.6 Study design



1.7 Keywords

Chronic hepatitis B (CHB), hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), B –cell-activating factor (BAFF), a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL), B cell maturation antigen (BCMA), transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI), BAFF receptor (BAFFR), pegylated interferon (peg-IFN)

1.8 Benefits of study

The expect outcome is to find an important role of BAFF in the predicting treatment response and disease outcome in CHB patient. BAFF is also expected to use as predictive and prognostic molecular markers in these patients. Moreover, the data of this research will be published in peer-reviewed international journals with an impact factor.



Chapter II

Literature Review

2.1 Hepatitis B virus (HBV)

2.1.1 Epidemiology of HBV

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is a major health problem, which affects approximately 2 billion people worldwide. In addition, approximately 350-400 million people are chronically infected with the virus, leading to a major cause of hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) globally (Trepo, Chan, & Lok, 2014). (Figure 1) HBV infection is commonly found in sub-Saharan -Africa and Asia. In high-prevalence countries such as Thailand, the infection is mainly transmitted via mother-to-child transmission. Although there are safe and effective vaccines for preventing its transmission, HBV remains an important public health problem.



Figure 1 Epidermiology of HBV (Trepo et al., 2014) (For education only)

2.1.2 Molecular virology of HBV

HBV is a member in the *Orthohepadna* genus for mammalian of the *Hepadnaviridae* family. HBV has been classified into ten genotypes according to the differences in the genome more than 8 percent, which include A to J and several sub-genotypes. The genome of HBV is composed of approximately 3 kilobase (kb) partially double-stranded circular DNA (Gerlich, 2013) and four overlapping open reading frames (ORFs) including S, P, C and X ORF (Liang, 2009) (Figure 2). The S ORF encodes three viral surface antigens known as HBsAg, which includes large (pre-S1), medium (pre-S2) and small (S) surface protein. The C ORF encodes hepatitis B core antigen (HBcAg) that plays a role in viral assembly and hepatitis B e antigen (HBeAg) (Liang, 2009). The P ORF is specific for viral polymerase and involved in viral DNA synthesis. Lastly, the X ORF encodes for a highly-conserved protein, hepatitis B x antigen (HBxAg), which is a multifunctional protein that plays an important role in hepatocarcinogenesis via various mechanisms (Liu, Koh, & Lee, 2016).



Figure 2 Genome of hepatitis B virus (HBV) (Seeger & Mason, 2000) (For education only)

2.1.3 The life cycle of HBV

The HBV replication pathway in hepatocytes is initially occurred after the virus is attached to heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPGs) and is taken up by binding to sodium taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide (NTCP, also known as solute carrier family 10 member 1 (SLC10A1)), which acts as an entry HBV receptor (Ni et al., 2014). Then, the viral capsid releases the partially double-stranded relaxed circular DNA (rcDNA) into the nucleus and converted to covalently closed circular DNA (cccDNA), which is served as a transcriptional template for host RNA polymerase II and involved in HBV persistence in infected cells (Nassal, 2015; Schreiner & Nassal, 2017). The viral sub-genomic RNAs including 0.7 kb, 2.4 kb or 2.1 kb RNA are translated to hepatitis x protein (HBx), large (pre-S1), medium (pre-S2) and small (S) surface protein, respectively. While the 3.5 kb including precore RNA and pregenomic RNA (pgRNA) are translated into core protein for secretion of HBeAg and viral polymerase, respectively. (Nassal, 2008) The assembly of HBV nucleocapsids occurs in the cytoplasm and RNA-containing nucleocapsids are reverse transcribed to rcDNA by reverse transcriptase enzyme before secreted from the cells or transported to the nucleus (Figure 3).



Figure 3 Hepatitis B life cycle (Morikawa, Suda, & Sakamoto, 2016) (For education only)

2.1.4 Current HBV therapies

Seven drugs are currently developed for chronic hepatitis B (CHB) infection including conventional interferon alpha (IFN- α), pegylated interferon-alpha (peg-IFN- α) and five nucleos(t)ide analogues (NAs); lamivudine, adefovir, entecavir, telbivudine and tenofovir. IFN- α is a cytokine in innate immunity, which induces the expression of IFN-stimulated genes and promotes the antiviral function of various immune cells (Sadler & Williams, 2008). The advantage of IFN treatment is a finite duration of treatment without drug resistance and higher rates of HBeAg or HBsAg seroconversion when compared with NA treatment. However, IFN-based therapy is associated with adverse effects such as flu-like symptoms, fatigue and bone marrow suppression (Perrillo, 2009).

NUCs are competitive inhibitors of HBV polymerase, which is similar structure with the natural nucleotide resulting in a decrease of viral production. NUCs are orally administered drugs, which have lower rates of HBeAg or HBsAg seroconversion compared with IFN-based therapy. In addition, drug resistance could be occurred and requires long term treatment.

The final goal in treatment of patients with CHB is a functional cure defined as hepatitis B virus surface antigen (HBsAg) clearance/seroconversion and undetectable HBV DNA. However, this end-point is uncommon, accounting for less than 10 percent of patients receiving peg-IFN therapy. Another more realistic therapeutic goal is sustained viral suppression and particularly hepatitis B virus e antigen (HBeAg) clearance/seroconversion in patients with HBeAg-positive CHB, which is associated with a reduced rate of liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (Lai & Yuen, 2013). Although peg-IFN therapy is associated with sustained response, its clinical use is limited by side effects and uncertain rates of treatment outcome. As a result, it is important to identify immunological markers to optimize its efficacy in patients with CHB.

2.2 Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC)

2.2.1 Epidemiology of HCC

Hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC), a tumor of parenchymal cells of the liver with the 5th most common malignant tumor in men and the 7th in women, with a high incidence rate in the world, especially Southeast Asia and sub-Saharan Africa as shown in Figure 4 (El-Serag, 2011). In Thailand, chronic HBV infection is the most common risk factor of HCC, accounted for 49.6% of the total cases (Somboon, Siramolpiwat, & Vilaichone, 2014).



Figure 4 Incidence rates of HCC (El-Serag, 2011) (For education only)

2.2.2 HCC staging

HCC categorized as very early (BCLC 0), early (BCLC A), intermediate (BCLC B), advanced (BCLC C), or terminal stage (BCLC D), according to the Barcelona Clinic Liver Cancer (BCLC) staging system, which is recommended by the American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD) and the European Association for the Study of the Liver (EASL) (Figure 5). This classification takes variables related to number and size of tumor, liver functional status and patient performance status. In brief, very early and early stage (BCLC 0-A) patients are candidate for curative treatment such as surgical resection, liver transplantation and ablation. The intermediate stage (BCLC B) for those patients with multifocal large tumors without vascular invasion and extrahepatic spread who will be treated with transarterial chemoembolization (TACE). The advanced stage (BCLC C) patients, who will be received sorafenib agent. Finally, patients with end stage or terminal stage (BCLC D) are considered to have poor liver function and they will be received Best supportive care (BSC) treatment (Forner, Gilabert, Bruix, & Raoul, 2014).



Figure 5 Barcelona-Clinic Liver-Cancer (BCLC) Staging System (Forner et al., 2014)

(For education only)

2.2.3 HCC treatment options

Available curative treatment options are surgical liver resection or liver transplantation which are mainly considered suitable for an early stage. However, the recurrence rate after resection remains high because of limitations in the diagnosis of early-stage of HCC. Thus, other treatments, including interventional therapies (transarterial chemoembolization (TACE), radiofrequency ablation (RFA), or microwave ablation (MWA)) and tyrosine kinase inhibitor (TKI) drug, called sorafenib or Nexavar are applied in patients with intermediate- and advanced-stage of HCC, respectively (Colombo & Sangiovanni, 2015). 2.2.4 Risk factors for HCC

As previously reported, chronically HBV infection has a well-established associated with the development of HCC. There are many studies have been evaluated the exact mechanism by which HBV infection but not yet completely understood. However, the possible mechanism might be affected by viral and host factors (Blum & Moradpour, 2002). Viral factor such as HBV DNA has been shown to integrate within host chromosomes and affected the function of host important genes including activation of proto-oncogenes or suppression of tumor-suppressor genes. In addition, HBx and surface gene have also been implicated in HCC development (C. M. Kim, Koike, Saito, Miyamura, & Jay, 1991; Levrero & Zucman-Rossi, 2016; Shlomai, de Jong, & Rice, 2014).

Host factors such as sex, age, family history, metabolic syndrome, genetic susceptibility and immunity function also play an important role in HCC development (J. Gao et al., 2012). In the tumor microenvironment, host immune response and cancer cell interaction can promote or inhibit cancer progression. General factors, such as alpha-fetoprotein (AFP), glypican-3 (GPC3), NY-ESO-1 and Wilms' tumor 1 (WT-1) (Pardee & Butterfield, 2012) have been identified as immunology targets. Moreover, there are immune checkpoint inhibitor molecules, including programmed cell death 1 (PD-1), programmed cell death ligand 1 (PD-L1), or cytotoxic T-lymphocyte-associated protein 4 (CTLA-4), which are approved for the treatment of many types of cancer as well as in liver cancer (Kudo, 2017).

2.3 Immune response

Persistence and progression of HBV infection are determined by a complex interplay among viral, host and environment factors. The host immune response against viruses is involved in the natural history and treatment outcome of CHB. The natural history of CHB has been classified into 4 phases using old and new terminology. (Figure 6) The immune tolerant (IT) phase or HBeAg-positive chronic infection is characterized by HBeAg positive with low inflammation, high HBV DNA but normal alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels. The immune clearance (IC) phase or

HBeAg-positive chronic hepatitis is characterized by a high level of HBV DNA and ALT with HBeAg positive. The immune control phase or HBeAg-negative chronic infection is characterized by HBeAg negative with low or undetectable of HBV DNA and low ALT levels. Finally, the immune reactivation phase or HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis is characterized by HBeAg negative with high level of HBV DNA and ALT (Terrault et al., 2016).



(For education only)

The host immune system is typically divided into 2 types, innate and adaptive immunity, which play important roles in controling and eliminating the virus infection.

2.3.1 Innate immunity

In general, innate immunity is the first line of host defense from many microorganisms and bacterial infection. However, they cannot defeat all of infection but just limit the spread of the infection and play a role in the initiation of the immune cell in adaptive immunity. The important component in innate immunity is called pattern-recognition receptors (PRRs) including Toll-like receptors (TLRs), retinoic acid-inducible gene I (RIG-I), nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain-contains protein (NOD)-like receptors (NLRs), C-type lectins and DNA-sensing receptors (Maini & Gehring, 2016). The binding of TLRs can lead to the activation of

many cells including dendritic cells (DCs), natural killer cells (NKs), and NKT cells by producing of inflammatory cytokines or chemokines such as type I interferons, which serve as an anti-viral function. (Zou, Wang, Wang, & Yu, 2016)

2.3.2 Adaptive immunity

Adaptive or acquire immunity consists of T lymphocytes, B lymphocytes and antibodies often called the cell mediated immune response and the humoral response, respectively. Adaptive immunity is highly specific to a pathogen and also provide long-lasting protection from reinfection with the same pathogen. The key components of adaptive immunity are T and B lymphocytes.

2.3.2.1 T cells or T lymphocytes

T cells including helper (CD4+) and cytotoxic (CD8+) T cells have been mostly investigated in HBV infection, which are showing a central role in the immune pathogenesis of HBV-related liver diseases (Shimizu, 2012; Ye et al., 2015). HBVspecific CD8+ T cells can kill the viral-infected hepatocytes by cytolytic mechanism and secreted cytokines, while HBV-specific CD4+ T cells play a role in orchestrating CD8+ T cell response. However, T cells have been mostly investigated in chronic HBV infection.

2.3.2.2 B cells or B lymphocytes

B cells play a central role in humoral immune response in human, which can be divided into many subpopulations according to their development in the bone marrow through the blood stream to the spleen. Different subsets of B cells are characterised by several surface markers such as CD19, CD24, CD27, CD38 or IgD. The development of B cells is shown in figure 7, B cells are developed in bone marrow and migrate as transitional B cell (CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi}) into the spleen and then mature to naïve B cells (CD19+CD38-CD27-IgD+). Naïve B cells recognise their cognate antigen before they proliferate to plasmablast (CD19⁺CD24⁻CD38⁺), plasma cells (CD19⁺CD27⁺CD38⁺) or further mature into memory B cells (CD19⁺CD38⁻CD27⁺IgD⁻) (Claes, Fraussen, Stinissen, Hupperts, & Somers, 2015).



Figure 7 B cell development (Claes et al., 2015) (For education only)

It is well known that B cells are involved in the immune response of HBV infection, which have the capacity to secrete of HBV-specific antibodies called anti-HBs, anti-HBe and anti-HBc and it is a necessary component of long term viral control and clearance (Bertoletti & Ferrari, 2016a). B cells also act as antigen-presenting cells (APCs), which can capture and present the antigen to MHC molecules and then modulate CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ T cells immune response (Milich et al., 1997). Moreover, B cells could potentially activate other immune cells such as dendritic cells (DCs), and macrophages by producing pro-inflammatory cytokines. (Figure 8) In a previous study, they found that B cells are low proliferative capacity in CHB patients as compared with healthy controls (Oliviero et al., 2011). B cells are also significantly enriched in the inflammatory liver of CHB patients treated with peg-IFN (H. L. Wu et al., 2016) and peg-IFN can trigger the remodeling of B cell subsets in CHB patients (Aspord et al., 2016). Furthermore, a recent study has characterized B cells in different phases of chronic HBV infected patients and found that B cells were hyperactivated and impaired in these patients and it also negative associate with HBsAg seroconversion (X. Xu et al., 2015). Therefore, the study of B cell is also important and it may provide new insights into HBV cure.



Figure 8 B cell functions (Claes et al., 2015) (For education only)

In addition, B cells also have a regulatory function (Inoue, Leitner, Golding, & Scott, 2006), which have been termed regulatory B cells or Bregs. There are different subsets of Breg, such as CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi}, CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD27⁺, CD19⁺CD5⁺CD1d^{hi} or CD19⁺CD73⁻CD25⁺CD71⁺, which could play a critical role in the regulation of immune response by exert an immune-modulatory function via the secretion of inhibitory cytokines, such as transforming growth factor-beta (TGF- β), interleukin-10 (IL-10) and IL-35, and interaction via co-stimulation molecule to suppress T cell activity and promote the differentiation of Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells (Tregs), also known as suppressor T cells (Figure 9) (Rosser & Mauri, 2015). More recently, other mechanisms, such as programmed death-ligand 1 (PD-L1) might be responsible for Breg function as well (Khan et al., 2015).



Figure 9 Regulatory B cell function (Sarvaria, Madrigal, & Saudemont, 2017) (For education only)

Programmed death-1 (PD-1) receptor or CD279, an inhibitory immune checkpoint receptor belonging to the CD28 family, which is expressed by monocytes, T cells, B cells, natural killer (NK) cells, dendritic cells (DCs) and tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes (TILs). PD-1 shows inhibitory signals after ligation with programmed death ligand-1 (PD-L1, B7-H1 or CD274) or 2 (PD-L2, B7-DC or CD273) and induces the suppression of immune response (Alsaab et al., 2017) (Figure 10). The expression of PD-L1 was identified in many tumor cells, such as breast cancer (Ghebeh et al., 2006), gastric cancer (C. Wu et al., 2006), lung cancer (Konishi et al., 2004), ovarian cancer (Hamanishi et al., 2007) pancreatic cancer (Nomi et al., 2007) and liver cancer (Q. Gao et al., 2009). Moreover, inhibition of PD-L1 expression by using anti-PD-L1 monoclonal antibody has also been developed as a cancer immunotherapy. On the other hand, PD-L1 also expresses in the population of B cells with a regulatory function or Breg to play a role in the humoral immunity suppression (Khan et al., 2015). Several studies recently shown that Bregs can promote tumor growth in human lymphoid malignancies and solid tumor malignancies including ovarian (Wei et al., 2016), gastric (W. W. Wang et al., 2015), lung (J. Liu et al., 2016; J. Zhou et al.,

2014), colorectal (A. Shimabukuro-Vornhagen et al., 2014), pancreatic, breast, esophageal (Qian et al., 2015), bladder, squamous cell (X. Zhou, Su, Lao, Liang, & Liao, 2016) and hepatocellular carcinomas (Shao et al., 2014; Xiao et al., 2016).



Figure 10 CD28 family members and theirs ligands (Okazaki & Honjo, 2007)

(For education only)

จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

2.4 B –cell-activating factor (BAFF) and a proliferation-inducing ligand (APRIL)

2.4.1 Ligand

The differentiation, proliferation and survival of B cells depends on the expression of a functional BCR, which is expressed on all mature B cells and signals from B-cell-activating factor (BAFF). B-cell-activating factor or also known as BAFF, BLys (B-lymphocyte stimulator) (Moore et al., 1999), TALL-1 (TNF- and Apo-related leukocyte-expressed ligand 1) (Shu, Hu, & Johnson, 1999), THANK (TNF homologue that activates apoptosis nuclear factor- κ B and c-Jun NH₂-terminal kinase) (Mukhopadhyay, Ni, Zhai, Yu, & Aggarwal, 1999), TNFSF13B (TNF-superfamily member 13B) or zTNF4 (Gross et al., 2000) and a proliferation-inducing ligand or also known as APRIL, TRDL-1 or TNFSF13 (TNF-superfamily member 13) (Roth et al., 2001), which are a member of the TNF superfamily as well and play as a survival regulator of most B cells (Roth et al., 2001). BAFF and APRIL are produced by myeloid cells such as neutrophils, monocytes, macrophages, dendritic cells (DCs) and activated T cells (Nardelli et al., 2001) and also by non-lymphoid cells (Lied & Berstad, 2011). The expression of BAFF is stimulated by interferon-gamma (IFN- γ), interleukin (IL)-10 and CD40 ligand (Lied & Berstad, 2011). BAFF gene is located on human chromosome 13q34 whereas, APRIL is located on human chromosome 17p13.1 (Treml, Hao, Stadanlick, & Cancro, 2009) and both of them encodes for a type II transmembrane protein, which presents on the cell surface or can be cleaved by furin and released as a soluble form.

2.4.2 Receptor

BAFF and APRIL share binding to two receptors called B cell maturation antigen (BCMA or TNFRSF17) and transmembrane activator and CAML interactor (TACI or TNFRSF13b) (Figure 10). Moreover, BAFF also interacts with BAFF receptor (BAFFR, BR3 or TNFRSF13C). In general, BAFFR is involved in the selection and survival of B cells and TACI can induce immunoglobulin (Ig) class switching, whereas BCMA promotes plasma B cells survival. All receptors express on B cells but BAFFR express
on both activated T cells and regulatory T cells, whereas TACI express on dendritic cells and monocytes (Mackay et al., 2003).



Figure 11 BAFF, APRIL and their binding to BAFFR, TACI and BCMA (Mackay & Schneider, 2009) (For education only)

The signal transduction pathway is initiated when BAFF or APRIL bind to their receptors, which is contained TNF receptor associated factor (TRAF) binding sites in their intracellular domains, but absent death domains. TRAF2 TRAF5, and TRAF6 bind to TACI, whereas TRAF1, TRAF2 and TRAF 3 bind to BCMA and then activate the transcriptional factor nuclear factor NF-κB1 pathway. However, only TRAF3 can bind to BAFFR leading to TRAF3 degradation and inducing NF-κB2 activation by NF-κB-inducing kinase (NIK) (figure 11 and 12).



Figure 12 Signaling pathway of BAFF bind to their receptor;

BAFFR (left) and TACI or BCMA (right) (Mackay & Schneider, 2009) (For education only)



Figure 13 Signaling pathway of BAFF when bind to BAFFR (Mackay & Schneider, 2009) (For education only)

Previous studies show that BAFF is elevated in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) (Salazar-Camarena et al., 2016), rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (Cheema et al., 2001), Sjogren's syndrome (Gottenberg et al., 2005), hepatitis C virus (HCV) (Lake-Bakaar et al., 2012; Novak et al., 2006; Rustgi et al., 2009; Sene et al., 2007; Tarantino et al., 2009), Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) (He et al., 2003) and human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection (Rodriguez et al., 2003; Stohl et al., 2002). In HBV infection, there is a study revealed that serum BAFF was significantly increased in patients with CHB, as compared with healthy control and also associated with disease progression including, liver cirrhosis and HCC (Yang et al., 2014). Another study showed that BAFF is one of many genes that up-regulated in liver biopsy samples from patients with CHB, who were treated with peg-IFN (H. L. Wu et al., 2016). These studies indicated that BAFF might play an important role in diseases mechanism and could be used as a biomarker for predicting disease prognosis and treatment response to interferon therapy. Additionally, a recent study found that

serum BAFF levels in HBeAg positive patients were higher than HBeAg negative patients, which is concluded that HBeAg can promote the expression of BAFF and enhance B cell activation (B. Lu et al., 2017).

Furthermore, their receptors also have a critical role in many diseases such as systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE). This study found that BCMA plays a regulation role in B cell homeostasis and it correlates with disease severity (Salazar-Camarena et al., 2016). However, these 3 receptors have not been yet investigated in chronic HBC infection. Therefore, it is important not only to determine the expression of BAFF, but also its receptors according to the clinical outcomes in chronic HBV infected patients.

2.4.3 BAFF single nucleotide polymorphisms

The genetic polymorphism of BAFF is also important to their expression. Several studies have shown that BAFF polymorphisms are associated with the transcription and translation of BAFF gene in many diseases (Kawasaki et al., 2002; Nezos et al., 2014; A. J. Novak et al., 2009). A polymorphism at position –871 C>T (rs9514828) in the promoter region of the BAFF gene (Figure 13), which are the binding region of transcription factor myeloid zinc finger protein (MZF1), (Novak et al., 2006) was observed in many diseases such as idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura (Emmerich et al., 2007), systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE), rheumatoid arthritis (RA) (Kawasaki et al., 2002) and hepatitis C-related mixed cryoglobulinemia (Gragnani et al., 2011). These studies found that the homozygous -871 T allele was associated with high mRNA and protein BAFF levels.



Figure 14 Schematic figure of the location of BAFF polymorphism at position -871 C>T in the promoter region (For education only)

Additionally, risk allele (T allele) of another polymorphism, rs12583006 in non-coding regions (introns) of the BAFF gene was found to be associated with high BAFF levels and non–Hogkin lymphoma (NHL) risk (Anne J Novak et al., 2009). A recent study found no association between these two polymorphisms and serum BAFF levels in CHB patients. On the other hand, rs9514828 polymorphism was found to associate with the disease (Han et al., 2017).



Chapter III

Materials and Methods

3.1. Materials

- Automatic Pipette 10, 100 and 1000 μL (Eppendorf, Germany)
- Pipette controller (Falcon, USA)
- Multichannel pipette (Eppendorf, Germany)
- Tip 10, 100, 1000 μL (Axygen, USA)
- Serological pipette 5 and 10 mL (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- Microcentrifuge tube 1.5 mL (Axygen, USA)
- Real-Time PCR tube 0.1 mL (Kirgen, USA)
- PCR tube 0.2 mL (Kirgen, USA)
- Conical centrifuge tube 15 and 50 mL (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- T-25 and T-75 flask (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- 12-well, 24-well and 96-well plates (Thermo Scientific, USA)

3.2. Equipments

- Autoclave (Hiramaya, USA)
 - **GHULALONGKORN UNIVERSIT**
- Microwave (Sharp, Japan)
- Electrophoresis chamber set (Major Science, USA)
- UV transilluminator gel doc (Biogenomed, Germany)
- Shaker incubation ES-20 (BIOSAN, Latvia)
- Mini centrifuge (Eppendorf, Germany)
- Centrifuge universal 320r (Hettich zentrifugen, UK)
- Freezer -80°C (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- Refrigerator 4°C (Mitsubishi Electric, Japan)

- Spectrophotometer (NanoDrop 2000c, Thermo Scientific)
- Infinite 200 Pro NanoQuan Microplate leader (Tecan, Switzerland)
- Heater block (Bioer Tenchnology, USA)
- StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR (Applied Biosystem, USA)
- Mastercycler Nexus PCR Machine (Eppendorf, Germany)
- Vortex mixer (Scientific Industry, USA)
- PCR cabinet (Cahc, Japan)
- Larmina flow cabinet (Esco Lifesciences, Singapore)
- Water bath (Memmert, Germany)
- CO₂ incubator (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- BD LSR II Flow Cytometry Analyzer (BD Biosciences, USA)

3.3. Reagents

- Guanidine thiocyanate (Merck, USA)
- Sodium acetate (NaOAc) (Sigma, Singapore)
- Sodium lauroyl sarcosinate (Merck, USA)
- Water-DEPC treated (Biotech, Canada)
- β -Mercaptoethanol (Merck, USA)
- Phenol (AMRESCO, USA)
- Chloroform (Merck, USA)
- Isoamyl alcohol (Merck, USA)
- Isopropanol (Merck, USA)
- Ethanol (Merck, USA)
- Dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (AMRESCO, USA)
- Tris-HCl (Sigma, Singapore)

- Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) (Biobasic, Canada)
- Sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) (AMRESCO, USA)
- Proteinase K (Life Technologies, USA)
- Glycogen (USB, Kongkong)
- DNase I, RNase-free (1 U/ μ L) (1000 Units) (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- BsrBI restriction enzyme (New England Biolabs, China)
- Agarose molecular grade (AMRESCO, USA)
- Boric acid (Bio Basic, Canada)
- Tris Base (Bio Basic, Canada)
- MinElute Gel Extraction Kit (QIAGEN, Netherland)
- RBC TA Cloning Vector Kit (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- PowerUp™ SYBR® Green Master Mix (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- TaqMan® Genotyping Master Mix (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- PCR Master mix (2X) (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- Primers (Integrated DNA Technologies, USA)
- Percoll PLUS density gradient media (GE Healthcare)
- Human BAFF Quantikine ELISA Kit (R&D Systems, USA)
- Human APRIL Platinum ELISA (eBioscience, Austria)
- PE dazzle anti-human CD274 (PD-L1) Antibody (BioLegend, USA)
- APC anti-human CD268 (BAFFR) Antibody (BioLegend, USA)
- APC anti-human CD267 (TACI) Antibody (BioLegend, USA)
- APC anti-human CD269 (BCMA) Antibody (BioLegend, USA)
- PE anti-human CD19 Antibody (BD Biosciences, USA)

- FITC anti-human CD38 Antibody (BD Biosciences, USA)
- PerCP-Cy5.5 anti-human IgD Antibody (BD Biosciences, USA)
- Alexa Fluor 700 anti-human CD27 Antibody (BD Biosciences, USA)
- PE-Cy[™]7 anti-human CD24 Antibody (BD Biosciences, USA)
- TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen Co., USA)
- Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM) (GIBCO, USA)
- Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 Medium (GIBCO, USA)
- Fetal bovine serum (FBS, GIBCO/BRL Co., USA)
- 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin
- Geniticin (G418) (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- MEM Non-Essential amino acid solution 100X (NEAA) (Thermo Scientific, USA)
- Recombinant Human IFN-alpha A (alpha 2a) (R&D Systems, USA)
- Recombinant Human BAFF (STEMCELL Technologies Inc., Canada)

3.4. Study population

All Thai patients with HBV infection who are confirmed positive for HBsAg for at least 6 months were recruited from King Chulalongkorn Memorial Hospital (Bangkok, Thailand). These patients were either treated 48-week peg-IFN alfa2a (180 µg/week) between January 2010 and May 2015 and had been followed-up for at least 12 months after treatment or classified according to the natural history of chronic HBV infection, including immune clearance, immune inactive and immune reactivation phase. Moreover, CHB patients who were diagnosed with HCC based on typical imaging studies and/or histology (fine needle aspiration or surgical resection) in accordance with the guidelines of American Association for the Study of Liver Diseases (AASLD) (Bruix & Sherman, 2005) were included in the study. Patients who were seropositive for HCV or human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) were excluded. Healthy volunteers were collected from National Blood Centre Thai Red Cross Society (Bangkok, Thailand) and were tested negative against HBV and/or HCV infection and had no history of liver disease.

Virological response (VR) was defined as HBeAg seroconversion (HBeAg clearance and generation of anti-HBe) plus HBV DNA level <2,000 IU/mL at 24 weeks after complete treatment. Combined response (CR) was defined by VR plus HBsAg decline ≥1.0 log10 IU/mL at 24 weeks post treatment.

According to the calculation from G*Power version 3.0.10. We set the alpha level, the power, the number of groups and the medium effect size, which as shown in figure 9. The total number of subjects who will be enrolled in BAFF levels analysis according to natural history and disease progression will be approximately 300 cases. Therefore, the sample sizes per group that we have come up with in our power analysis is approximately 50 cases.



Figure 15 The G * Power calculator for BAFF levels analysis

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Chulalongkorn University, Bangkok, Thailand and participants had provided written informed consent. This study followes the Helsinki Declaration and Good Clinical Practice guidelines.

3.5. Serological and virological assays

The levels of HBsAg, anti-HBsAg, HBeAg and Anti-HBe were measured by commercial available enzyme-linked immunosorbent assays (Abbott Laboratories, Chicago, IL). Serum HBsAg quantification was assessed by Elecsys HBsAgII Quant reagent kits (Roche Diagnostics, Indianapolis, IN) and HBV DNA levels were determined by Abbott Real Time HBV assay (Abbott Laboratories). HBV genotyping and mutations in the precore (PC, G1896A) and basal core promoter (BCP; A1762T and/or G1764A)) regions were assessed by direct sequencing, as described previously (Tangkijvanich, Sa-Nguanmoo, Mahachai, Theamboonlers, & Poovorawan, 2010). The results were then classified as HBV wild type (WT) or mutant.

FIB-4 or fibrosis-4 score was calculated based on aged, aspartate aminotransferase (AST), alanine aminotransferase (ALT) and platelet counts, which is use to prediction of fibrosis (Vallet-Pichard et al., 2007).

3.6. Sample collection and preparation

Whole blood sample was collected in a standard serum clot activator and ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (EDTA) tube. Serum, plasma and buffy coat were obtained from whole blood samples by centrifugation at 1,500 rpm for 15 minutes and stored at -80°C. Total RNA and genomic DNA were extracted from PBMCs for mRNA levels and SNP genotyping analysis, respectively. Serum, plasma, RNA and genomic DNA samples were stored at -80°C for further analysis. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from sodium heparin tube was isolated by Ficoll-Hypaque density gradient centrifugation and total PBMCs were stored in liquid nitrogen before analysis.

3.7. Methods

3.7.1 DNA extraction

Genomic DNA was extracted from 100 µL of PBMCs by using phenolchloroform-isoamyl alcohol isolation method as described previously (Sopipong, Tangkijvanich, Payungporn, Posuwan, & Poovorawan, 2013). The quality of DNA was measured using spectrophotometer (NanoDrop 2000c, Thermo Scientific, USA).

3.7.2 RNA and cDNA synthesis

Messenger RNA (mRNA) was extracted from 100 μ L of PBMCs by the Guanidine Thiocyanate (GTC) procedure according to the previous study (McGookin, 1985) and cell culture at each timepoint by using TRIzol reagent (Invitrogen Co., USA). DNA was removed from RNA by DNase treatment (DNase I, RNase-free, Thermo Scientific, USA) and 2 μ g of RNA were reverse transcribed by using a random hexamer (RevertAid First Strand cDNA Synthesis Kit, Thermo Scientific, USA) to synthesize single-stranded complementary DNA (cDNA) according to the manufacturer's instructions.

3.7.3 Quantitative Real-time polymerase chain reaction (Real-time PCR)

Quantitative Real-time polymerase chain reaction (Real-time PCR) with SYBR Green was performed to determine the levels of BAFF mRNA expression in PBMCs and cell culture. PCR containes 1 μ L cDNA, 5 μ L PowerUpTM SYBR® Green Master Mix (Thermo Scientific, USA) and 10 μ M of each primer (Table 1) in a total volume of 10 μ L, and then were performed in StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR (Applied Biosystem, USA) in the condition as shown in table 2 and 3.

Table 1 Primer sequences used for mRNA expression

| Primer name | Sequence (5' to 3') | Product size (bp) |
|---------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------|
| BAFF Forward | GGG AGC AGT CAC GCC TTA C | 70 |
| BAFF Reverse | CGT GGG AGG ATG GAA ACA CAC | 19 |
| GAPDH Forward | GTG AAG GTC GGAGTC AAC GG | 107 |
| GAPDH Reverse | TCA ATG AAG GGG TCA TTG ATG G | 107 |
| Beta-globin Forward | GTG CAC CTG ACT CCT GAG GAG A | 102 |
| Beta-globin reverse | CCT TGA TAC CAA CCT GCC CAG | 102 |

Table 2 The PCR condition used for BAFF and beta-globin gene amplification

| Cycle step | Temperature | Time | Number of cycles |
|---------------------------------------|-------------|--------|------------------|
| UDG activation | 50°C | 2 min | 1 |
| Dual-Lock [™] DNA polymerase | 95℃ | 2 min | 1 |
| Denaturation | 95°C | 15 sec |] 40 |
| Annealing and extension | 60°C | 1 min | 5 |

| Cycle step | Temperature | Time | Number of cycles |
|---|-------------|--------|------------------|
| UDG activation | 50℃ | 2 min | 1 |
| $Dual\operatorname{-Lock}^{TM}DNA$ polymerase | 95℃ | 2 min | 1 |
| Denaturation | 95℃ | 15 sec | |
| Annealing | 60°C | 20 sec | . 40 |
| Extension | 72°C | 20 sec | |

Table 3 The PCR condition used for GAPDH gene amplification

HBV S gene quantification from HepG2.2.15 cells and then quantified using HBV DNA primer (Table 4) by Real-time PCR with a thermal condition (Table 5).

Positive control was used in parallel with samples included in the study and amplicon was evaluated by melting curve analysis and 1% agarose gel electrophoresis. Changes were normalized with Glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) or beta-globin expression levels. The fold changes of mRNA and DNA expression were calculated by using $2^{-\Delta\Delta Ct}$ method.

Table 4 Primer sequences used for DNA

| Primer name | Sequence (5' to 3') | Product size (bp) |
|---------------|--------------------------------|----------------------|
| HBV S forward | TCC TCC AAY TTG TCC TGG TYA TC | 83 |
| HBV S reverse | AGA TGA GGC ATA GCA GCA GGA T | 60 |

| Cycle step | Temperature | Time | Number of cycles |
|---|-------------|--------|------------------|
| UDG activation | 50°C | 2 min | 1 |
| $Dual\operatorname{-Lock}^{TM}DNA$ polymerase | 95℃ | 3 min | 1 |
| Denaturation | 95℃ | 15 sec | |
| Annealing | 55℃ | 20 sec | 10 |
| Extension | 72°C | 30 sec | - 40 |
| Extension | 74°C | 30 sec | |

Table 5 The PCR condition used for HBV S gene amplification

3.7.4 BAFF polymorphism

Genetic polymorphism of rs12583006 of the BAFF gene was genotyped using TaqMan SNP genotyping assay (C_11705495_10) via StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR (Applied Biosystem, USA). Fluorescent signals (FAM and VIC) were acquired at the end of each cycle and allelic discrimination plot was analyzed using StepOne TM software (version 2.2, Applied Biosystems).

Another SNP, rs9514828 was detected with restriction fragment length polymorphism (RFLP) method. PCR was performed in a total volume of 10 μ L with PCR master mix (2X) (Thermo Scientific, USA) and 10 μ M of each BAFF promoter primer as shown in table 7. The PCR was performed in Mastercycler Nexus PCR Machine (Eppendorf, Germany) in the condition as shown in table 8. According to the supplier's manual, 5 μ L of PCR products were digested with 10U/ μ L of *BsrB*I restriction enzyme (New England Biolabs, China) at 37°C for 18 hours and then separated by 2% agarose gel electrophoresis (Figure 15).



Figure 16 Agarose gel electrophoresis of PCR product after digested with $10U/\mu L$ of *BsrB*I restriction enzyme

Positive and negative controls were included in each experiment in order to ensure appropriate data interpretation.

| | Table of himer sequences used for bArt promoter amplification | | | | |
|---------------|---|-----------|--|--|--|
| Primer name | Sequence (5' to 3') | Product | | | |
| | CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY | size (bp) | | | |
| BAFF promoter | GGC ACA GTC AAC ATG GGA GT | | | | |
| forward | | 500 | | | |
| BAFF promoter | GCT AAG TGT TTT AGC ATT GAA TTG | 500 | | | |
| reverse | | | | | |

Table 6 Primer sequences used for BAFF promoter amplification

| Cycle step | Temperature | Time | Number of cycles |
|----------------------|-------------|--------|------------------|
| Initial denaturation | 95°C | 2 min | 1 |
| Denaturation | 95°C | 30 sec |] |
| Annealing | 58°C | 30 sec | _ 40 |
| Extension | 72°C | 1 min | |
| Final extension | 72°C | 7 min | 1 |

Table 7 The PCR condition used for BAFF promoter amplification

3.7.5 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA)

Plasma BAFF were determined by ELISA (R&D Systems, USA) at baseline, during and after therapy (weeks 0, 4, 12, 24, 48 and 72). Plasma APRIL was measured at baseline using Human APRIL Platinum ELISA (eBioscience, Austria) according to the manufacturer's protocol.

3.7.6 Flow Cytometry

Cryopreserved PBMCs from each patient were cultured in Roswell Park Memorial Institute (RPMI) 1640 Medium (GIBCO, USA) supplement with 10% FBS. At least 100,000 cells were stained with combinations of antibodies including anti-CD19-PE, anti-CD38-FITC, anti-IgD-PerCP-Cy5.5, anti-CD27 Alexa Fluor 700, anti-CD24 PE-CyTM7 (BD Biosciences, USA), anti-CD274 (PD-L1)-PE dazzle, anti-CD268 (BAFFR), anti-CD267 (TACI) and anti-CD269 (BCMA)-APC (BioLegend, USA). Flow cytometry was performed by using BD LSR II Flow Cytometry Analyzer (BD Biosciences, USA).

Data was analysed with Flowjo V.10. Lymphocyte population was initially determined from FSC versus SSC plot. Positive for CD19 was then identified CD19 versus SSC plot. Naive B cells, transitional B cells, effector B cells, memory B cells and plasmablast were identified from CD38 versus CD24 and IgD versus CD24 plot.

3.7.7 Cell culture

HepG2 cells were cultured in Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium (DMEM, GIBCO/BRL Co., USA) supplement with 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS) and 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin. Whereas, HepG2.2.15 cells that containing the HBV genome were cultured in DMEM with 10% FBS, 1X MEM NEAA, 100 U/mL penicillin and 100 µg/mL streptomycin and 150 µg/mL G418. HepG2.2.15 cells were incubated under sterile condition in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Cells were seeded into 24-well plates at a density of 2.5×10^5 cells per well and then treated with 0, 1, 10^1 , 10^2 , 10^3 and 10^4 IU/ml Recombinant Human IFN-alpha A (alpha 2a) (R&D Systems, USA) for 0, 3, 6, 9, 12 and 24 hours. Moreover, HepG2.2.15 cells were also treated with 10^4 IU/ml Recombinant Human IFN-alpha A alone, 20 ng/ml Recembinant Human BAFF alone or both of them for 6 hours.

After treatment, cells were taken to RNA extraction by using TRIZOL reagent. The yield of RNA was determined by measuring A260 and calculated for appropriate concentration in RNA converting experiment. The real-time PCR technique is conducted using StepOnePlus Real-Time PCR (Applied Biosystem, USA). Subsequently, analysis of fold change ratio was calculated by using $2^{-\Delta\Delta^{Ct}}$ method.

3.8. Data Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed with SPSS statistics version 22 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL) and GraphPad Prism v5.0 (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA). Comparisons between groups were assessed by the chi-square or Fisher's exact test for categorical variables and by the Mann–Whitney U-test or Student's t-test or one-way ANOVA for quantitative variables. Correlation between baseline parameters was examined by Spearman's rank correlation test. Areas under the receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) was used to assess the predictive values of variables for treatment response. Sensitivity, specificity, positive predictive value (PPV), negative predictive value (NPV) and accuracy were calculated in accordance with standard methods. Univariate and multivariate logistic regression were used for assess odd ratios relating pre-treatment variables associated with treatment response. A *P*-value less than 0.05 was considered significant.

Chapter IV Results

4.1 Baseline patient characteristics

Table 8 shows baseline characteristics comparison among 3 groups of all subjects enrolled in this study. Patients with HCC were older and had male gender distribution than patients without HCC and healthy controls (*P*<0.001). Compared with the non-HCC group, patients with HCC had higher mean aspartate aminotransferase (AST), total bilirubin (TB), serum albumin, platelet counts, and AFP levels. In addition, patients with HCC had higher fibrosis-4 (FIB-4) index, a non-invasive scoring system for assessing liver fibrosis, and a higher frequency of cirrhosis than the non-HCC group. However, there was no difference between groups in terms of alanine aminotransferase (ALT), HBV DNA level and HBeAg positivity.



| | | | - | |
|-------------------------------------|-----------------|-------------|-------------------------------|---------|
| | Healthy | Patients | Patients with | p- |
| Baseline Characteristics | controls | without HCC | HCC | volue |
| | (n=100) | (n=290) | (n=200) | Value |
| Age (years) | 49.3±5.2 | 42.9±11.8 | 58.1±11.9 | <0.001* |
| Gender (Male) | 65 (65.0) | 174 (60.0) | 168(84.0) | <0.001* |
| AST (IU/L) | रू के बोटी | 39.6±35.9 | 95.6±102.2 | <0.001* |
| ALT (IU/L) | | 58.9±70.3 | 59.5±54.3 | 0.915 |
| Serum albumin (g/dL) | 2/1 | 4.4±0.4 | 3.6±0.6 | <0.001* |
| Total bilirubin (mg/dL) | | 0.7±0.3 | 1.2±0.7 | <0.001* |
| Platelet count (10 ⁹ /L) | | 228.6±54.4 | 200.0±126.9 | 0.004* |
| HBeAg positivity | Aleas Alease | 95 (33.0) | 58 (29.0) | 0.468 |
| Log ₁₀ HBV DNA (IU/mL) | -ALAN | 4.8±2.2 | 4.5±1.5 | 0.112 |
| Alpha fetoprotein (ng/mL) | งกรณ์ม | 5.3±14.5 | 17203.5±60745.5 | 0.001* |
| FIB-4 index CHULAI | .ONGKOR | 1.26±0.83 | TY 4.87±4.14 | <0.001 |
| Presence of cirrhosis | | 52 (17.9) | 168 (84.0) | <0.001* |
| BCLC stage (0-A/B/C-D) | | - | 61(30.5)/76(38.0) /3(31.5) | - |

Table 8 Baseline characteristics of all subjects in the study

Data expressed as mean \pm SD or n (%) as appropriate; *, *P*-value<0.05

ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase

Non-HCC patients with HBeAg positive achieved VR, CR and HBsAg; 17 (40.5%), 11 (26.2%) and 3 (7.1%), respectively. Baseline characteristics of those patients with and without CR are shown in Table 9. Patients who achieved CR (responders) had significantly lower baseline BAFF concentrations and frequencies of PC and BCP mutations than non-responders. There was no significant difference between groups in the distribution of patient's gender, HBV genotypes, mean HBV DNA and HBsAg and levels.

| Table 9 Baseline characteristi | cs of HBeAg | positive | patients | in relation | to combined |
|--------------------------------|---------------|----------|----------|-------------|-------------|
| response | - Constanting | 12 | | | |

| Characteristics | All patients (n=42) | Responders (n=11) | Non-responders (n=31) | <i>P</i> -value |
|----------------------------------|------------------------|----------------------|--------------------------|-----------------|
| Age, year | 33.8±8.2 | 32.7±8.4 | 34.2±8.2 | 0.609 |
| Male sex, n (%) | 28 (66.7%) | 7(63.6%) | 21(67.7%) | 0.804 |
| ALT (IU/L) | 97.2±71.5 | 93.9±59.2 | 98.3±76.3 | 0.863 |
| HBV genotypes, n (%) | | 3 | | |
| В | 5(11.9%) | 1(9.1%) | 4(12.9%) | 0.737 |
| c จุฬาส | 37(88.1%) | 10(90.9%) | 27(87.1%) | |
| PC and BCP Mutation, n (%) | 21(50%) | 2(18.2%) | 19(61.3%) | 0.014* |
| Log ₁₀ HBV DNA, IU/ml | 7.2±1.1 | 7.4±1.2 | 7.1±1.1 | 0.541 |
| Log ₁₀ HBsAg, IU/ml | 3.9±0.7 | 4.1±0.8 | 3.9±0.7 | 0.371 |

Data expressed as mean ± SD or n (%) as appropriate; *, *P*-value<0.05

ALT, alanine aminotransferase; PC, Precore; BCP, Basic core promoter; Responders, patients achieved combined response

4.2 Baseline plasma BAFF levels between studied groups

4.2.1 Baseline plasma BAFF levels in relation to disease progression

Plasma BAFF levels in patients with HCC obtained at the time of diagnosis ranged from 79.8 to 288.8 pg/ml, with a mean of 1330.7 ± 793.2 pg/ml. The average level of plasma BAFF levels in this group was significantly higher than that of the non-HCC group (906.5±275.6 pg/ml; ranged from 476.0 to 3410.0 pg/ml) and healthy controls (845.7±158.1 pg/ml; ranged from 487.5 to 1165.7 pg/ml, *P*<0.001). Plasma BAFF level in the non-HCC group was also higher than in the healthy controls (*P*=0.037) (Figure 17).



Figure 17 Plasma BAFF levels in each group of patients and healthy controls

Among the non-HCC group, patients whose clinical feature categorized in the IA phase (n=190) had significantly higher mean BAFF level than those classified in the IC phase (n=100) (930.5 \pm 315.3 pg/ml vs. 860.9 \pm 169.4 pg/ml, *P*=0.015) (Figure 18)





If categorized patients based on HBeAg status, patients with HBeAg positivity (n=95) had significantly higher mean BAFF level than those with HBeAg negativity (n=195) (991.0 \pm 401.4 pg/ml vs. 865.4 \pm 172.9 pg/ml, *P*=0.004) (Figure 19).



Figure 19 Plasma BAFF levels in HBeAg negative and positive

Likewise, patients with cirrhosis (n=52) exhibited higher average BAFF level than those without cirrhosis (n=238) (1047.6 \pm 440.0 pg/ml vs. 875.7 \pm 213.6 pg/ml, *P*=0.008) (Figure 20).



Figure 20 Plasma BAFF levels in patients with and without fibrosis

4.2.2 Baseline levels of BAFF in relation to treatment outcome

Baseline levels of BAFF in relation to treatment outcome are shown in figure 21. For BAFF concentrations, patients with VR compared to those without VR had a significant lower mean baseline level (762.4 \pm 199.7 vs. 923.7 \pm 231.1 pg/mL, *P*=0.024). Similar findings were observed in relation to patients with and without CR (722.6 \pm 208.6 vs. 906.6 \pm 221.6 pg/mL, *P*=0.021) and with and without HBsAg clearance (556.3 \pm 77.7 vs. 881.6 \pm 222.2 pg/mL, *P*=0.017).



Figure 21 Plasma BAFF levels in relation to treatment outcome (A) viral response (VR), (B) combine response (CR) and (C) HBsAg clearance

Moreover, baseline levels of APRIL in relation to treatment outcome were also measured in this study. Figure 22 shows that patients with VR compared to those without VR had lower mean baseline level (2.3 ± 2.4 vs. 6.5 ± 11.7 pg/mL, P=0.194). Similar findings were observed in relation to patients with and without CR (2.5 ± 2.8 vs. 5.7 ± 10.8 pg/mL, P=0.368) and with and without HBsAg clearance (1.0 ± 0.2 vs. 5.1 ± 9.6 pg/mL, P=0.472).



Figure 22 Plasma APRIL levels in relation to treatment outcome (A) viral response (VR), (B) combine response (CR) and (C) HBsAg clearance

However, the significantly positive correlations between baseline plasma levels of BAFF and APRIL was observed in CHB patients (P=0.0136, r=0.4192) (Figure 23).



Figure 23 Correlations between baseline plasma levels of BAFF and APRIL

4.3 Plasma BAFF kinetics in relation to combined response

Regardless of treatment response, plasma BAFF levels were significantly elevated after the beginning of peg-IFN therapy and decreased after the end of treatment (Figure 24). Mean BAFF levels were significantly different between those with and without CR at week 0 (722.6 \pm 208.6 vs. 906.6 \pm 221.6 pg/mL, *P*=0.021) and week 72 (742.3 \pm 219.8 vs. 938.3 \pm 228.4 pg/mL, *P*=0.018). However, there was no significant differences between groups at other time points. In addition, the mean changes from baseline at weeks 4, 12, 24, 48 and 72 were not different between responders and non-responders.



Figure 24 Kinetic of BAFF levels during Peg-IFN treatment, P-value<0.05

4.3 BAFF mRNA expression in relation to disease progression

The expression of BAFF mRNA normalized with beta-globin gene was shown in figure 25. The result showed that BAFF mRNA levels in HBV-related HCC patients $(1.4\pm2.8, n=70)$ tends to be higher than healthy controls $(1.0\pm0.4, n=30)$ and CHB patients $(0.8\pm1.0, n=50)$, respectively. However, there was not show a significantly correlated with plasma BAFF levels in the same patients.



Figure 25 BAFF mRNA expression levels in Healthy individual, CHB and HCC patients

4.4 Cut-off values of baseline BAFF between studied groups

4.4.1 Cut-off values of baseline BAFF and clinical parameters in HCC patients

To evaluate the association between plasma BAFF levels and clinical features, the patients with HCC were divided into two groups based on their median value (approximately 1100 pg/ml) in all HCC patients. Accordingly, there were 99 and 101 patients with low and high levels of plasma BAFF, respectively. The correlations of low and high BAFF levels and various clinical parameters are summarized in Table 10. It was clearly shown that high BAFF levels were significantly correlated with serum AST, albumin, total bilirubin, AFP, FIB-4 index, severity of liver disease determined by Child-Pugh Classification and advanced BCLC stage. However, there was no correlation between plasma BAFF level and patient age, gender, ALT, platelet count and HBV DNA level.



| | Low BAFF (<1100 | High BAFF (≥1100 | |
|-------------------------------------|------------------|-------------------|---------|
| Variables | pg/ml) | pg/ml) | Р |
| | (n=99) | (n=101) | |
| Age (years) | 58.2±11.9 | 58.0±11.9 | 0.900 |
| Gender | | | |
| Male (n=168) | 87 (87.9) | 81 (80.2) | 0 177 |
| Female (n=32) | 12 (12.1) | 20 (19.8) | 0.177 |
| AST (IU/L) | 72.4±71.8 | 118.4±121.1 | 0.001* |
| ALT (IU/L) | 59.3±17.5 | 59.8±51.2 | 0.954 |
| Serum albumin (g/dL) | 3.8±0.6 | 3.4±0.5 | <0.001* |
| Total bilirubin (mg/dL) | 1.0±0.6 | 1.3±0.8 | 0.008* |
| Platelet count (10 ⁹ /L) | 188.8±121.7 | 210.9±131.5 | 0.221 |
| Log ₁₀ HBV DNA (IU/mL) | 4.5±1.5 | 4.4±1.5 | 0.879 |
| Alpha fetoprotein | 5,210.3±16,801.2 | 28,735.4±8,208.0 | 0.015* |
| (ng/mL) | | | |
| FIB-4 index | 4.26±3.92 | ເລັຍ 5.46±4.28 | 0.041* |
| Child-Puge class | NGKORN UNIVE | RSITY | |
| A (n=158) | 89 (87.3) | 69 (70.4) | 0.027* |
| B or C (n=42) | 13 (12.7) | 29 (29.6) | |
| BCLC tumor stage | | | |
| 0-A (n=61) | 40 (40.4) | 21 (20.8) | <0.001* |
| B (n=76) | 41(41.4) | 35 (34.7) | |
| C-D (n=63) | 18 (18.2) | 45 (44.6) | |

Table 10 Relationship between plasma BAFF levels and characteristics of patients with HCC

Data expressed as mean ± SD or n (%) as appropriate; *, *P*-value<0.05

ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase

4.4.2 Cut-off values of baseline BAFF in predicting combined response

The cut-off values of BAFF for predicting CR are shown in figure 26. The area under ROC curves (AUROC) of BAFF was 0.74 (95% confidence interval (CI), 0.55-0.93; P=0.018). The optimal cut-off values for BAFF was 770 pg/mL. The sensitivity, specificity, PPV, NPV and accuracy for the prediction of CR of these markers are 72.7, 74.2, 50.0, 88.5 and 73.8%, respectively. However, the AUROC of baseline APRIL was 0.62 (95%CI, 0.40-0.84; P=0.273) and the cut-off level was 1.30 ng/mL (Figure 27).



Figure 26 The area under ROC curves (AUROC) of BAFF association with combined response (CR)



Figure 27 The area under ROC curves (AUROC) of APRIL association with combined response (CR)

Accordingly, univariate and multivariate were performed to identify marker for prediction of CR. In univariate analysis, the presence of wild type of virus and lower baseline plasma BAFF (<770 pg/ml) were associated with CR. However, only low levels of plasma BAFF was independent factor for CR (Table 11).

จุฬาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University

| 1 | | | | | |
|-------------------------------------|--------------------------|---------------|---------|-----------------|---------|
| Combined response | | | | | |
| Factors | Categories | Univariate a | nalysis | Multivariate a | nalysis |
| | | OR (95% CI) | P-value | OR (95% CI) | P-value |
| Age, year | <40 ∨s. ≥40 | 1.1(0.2-5.1) | 0.912 | | |
| Sex | Male vs. Female | 0.8(0.2-3.5) | 0.804 | | |
| ALT, IU/ml | <100 ∨s. ≥100 | 0.9(0.2-4.3) | 0.912 | | |
| HBV genotypes | B vs.C | 0.7(0.1-6.8) | 0.739 | | |
| PC/BCP mutants | Wild type vs. Mutants | 7.1(1.3-38.8) | 0.023* | 4.2(0.5-33.8) | 0.175 |
| Log ₁₀ HBV DNA, IU/ml | <7.0 vs. ≥7.0 | 4.2(0.8-22.8) | 0.094 | | |
| Log ₁₀ HBsAg, IU/ml | <4.0 vs. ≥4.0 | 2.4(0.6-10.0) | 0.222 | | |
| APRIL, ng/ml | <1.3 vs. ≥1.3 | 2.5(0.6-11.3) | 0.235 | | |
| BAFF, pg/ml | <770 ∨s. ≥770 | 7.7(1.6-36.2) | 0.010* | 16.1(1.5-174.9) | 0.022* |

Table 11 Logistic regression analysis of baseline characteristics to predict combined response

ALT, alanine aminotransferase; PC, Precore; BCP, Basic core promoter; OR, odd ratio; CI, confident interval

4.5 HBsAg kinetics in relation to baseline plasma BAFF levels

To compare HBsAg kinetics in relation to baseline BAFF levels, which the best cut-off value 770 pg/ml. Patients with low baseline BAFF levels (<700 pg/ml) compared with high baseline BAFF levels ($\geq770 \text{ pg/ml}$) had similar levels of HBsAg (3.9 ± 0.8 vs. 4.0 ± 0.7 log101U/mL, P=0.673) but a trend towards a greater HBsAg decline from baseline to week 4 (3.8 ± 0.7 vs. 3.8 ± 0.7 log101U/mL, P=0.708), week 12 (3.5 ± 1.0 vs. 3.7 ± 0. $\log 1010$ /mL, P=0.494), week 24 (2.8 ± 1.4 vs. 3.5 ± 0.9 log101U/mL, P=0.029), week 48 (2.4 ± 1.5 vs. 3.2 ± 1.0 log101U/mL, P=0.064) and week 72 (2.4 ± 1.7 vs. 3.5 ± 1.0 log101U/mL, P=0.026). (Figure 28)



Figure 28 Relationship between baseline BAFF levels and HBsAg decline, *P*-value<0.05

4.6 Distribution of BAFF polymorphisms

Prevalence of the SNPs in the BAFF gene including rs9514828 and rs12583006 in each group of subjects are summarized in table 12. There was no difference in the prevalence of rs9514828 genotypes between patients with HCC and non-HCC, as well as between patients with HCC and healthy controls. However, patients with chronic HBV infection (including HCC and non-HCC) had a significantly higher prevalence of CT and CT + TT compared with healthy controls. Regarding rs12583006 genotypes, there was no difference in their distribution among studied groups.

| groups |
|---------|
| studied |
| ni sr |
| phism |
| /morl |
| ()od |
| of |
| ence |
| Preval |
| 12 |
| Table |

| | - | - | , | - | | | | | |
|------------|-----------|----------------|------------|--------------------|----------|------------------|-------|------------------|---------|
| | Health | Patients | Datiante | HCC vie Haalthvi i | ontrol c | | HUU | Non-HCC and H | ICC vs. |
| | | without | | | | | | Healthy cont | rols |
| | (n=100) | HCC (n=290) | (n=200) | OR (95% CI) | d | OR (95% CI) | Ρ | OR (95% CI) | Р |
| rs9514828 | | | | | | | | | |
| CC | 54 (54.0) | 116 (40.0) | 90 (45.0) | 1.00 | 0.121 | 1.00 | 0.299 | 1.00 | 0.026* |
| CT | 36 (36.0) | 142 (49.0) | 90 (45.0) | 1.50 (0.90-2.51) | 0.667 | 0.82 (0.56-1.20) | 0.496 | 1.69 (1.06-2.68) | 0.412 |
| Þ | 10 (10.0) | 32 (11.0) | 20(10.0) | 1.20 (0.52-2.75) | 0.142 | 0.81 (0.43-1.50) | 0.271 | 1.36 (0.65-2.86) | 0.029* |
| CT + TT | 46 (46.0) | 174 (60.0) | 110 (55.0) | 1.43 (0.89-2.32) | | 0.81 (0.57-1.17) | | 1.62 (1.05-2.49) | |
| rs12583006 | | | | | | | | | |
| AA | 19 (19.0) | 55 (19.0) | 36 (18.0) | 1.00 | 0.793 | 1.00 | 0.691 | 1.00 | 0.618 |
| АТ | 42 (42.0) | 147 (50.7) | 87 (43.5) | 1.09 (0.56-2.13) | 0.905 | 0.90 (0.55-1.49) | 0.274 | 1.16 (0.64-2.11) | 0.688 |
| Ħ | 39 (39.0) | 88 (30.3) | 77 (38.5) | 1.04 (0.53-2.05) | 0.833 | 1.34 (0.80-2.25) | 0.787 | 0.88 (0.48-1.62) | 0.920 |
| AT + TT | 81 (81.0) | 235 (81.0) | 164 (82.0) | 1.07 (0.58-1.98) | | 1.07 (0.67-1.70) | | 1.03 (0.59-1.78) | |
| | | | | | | | | | |

Data expressed as n (%); OR=Odd ratio; CI=confidence intervals; *, P-value<0.05

The associations between these two SNPs and plasma BAFF levels were also examined but our data did not detect any significant difference of plasma BAFF levels in relation to different genotypes of rs9514828 or rs12583006 in all subjects, as well as in subgroups of patients with HCC, patients without HCC and healthy controls. However, we found that the TT genotype of rs9514828 polymorphism in the BAFF promoter was associated with a relative BAFF mRNA expression levels when compared with CT genotype (P=0.0033) and CC genotype (P=0.0026) (Figure 29A). No significant differences were detected in BAFF mRNA expression levels among genotypes of rs12583006 polymorphism of BAFF gene (Figure 29B).



จุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Figure 29 Association of BAFF polymorphisms and BAFF mRNA expression levels (A) rs9514828 (B) rs12583006

4.7 Factors associated with overall survival of patients with HCC

We further examined the potential prognostic value of plasma BAFF and its related SNPs. The median overall survival (OS) of patients with low levels of BAFF (< 1100 pg/ml) was 47.5 months, which was significantly better than that of patients whose levels were \geq 1100 pg/ml (21.4 months, *P*<0.001 by log rank test) (Figure 30).



Figure 30 Overall survival of patients with HCC according to plasma BAFF levels

For rs9514828, there was no difference in OS between patients harboring CC or CT + TT (Figure 31A). Similarly, there was no difference in OS between patients harboring AA or AT + TT of rs12583006 (Figure 31B).



Figure 31 Overall survival of patients with HCC according to BAFF polymorphisms (A) rs9514828 (B) *rs*12583006
Plasma BAFF, rs9514828 and rs12583006 were entered into multivariate analysis together with other variables that might influence OS of patients with HCC. These factors included age, gender, AST, ALT, platelet count, HBV DNA, FIB-4 index, Child-Pugh classification, tumor size and BCLC stage. The multivariate analysis revealed that more advanced BCLC, high AFP and high plasma BAFF levels were independent prognostic factors of OS in patients with HCC (Table 13).



Chulalongkorn University

| i with | |
|------------|---------|
| Dationto | ממרכוור |
| | |
| cunii | |
| l era//C | |
| with, | |
| accoriated | |
| Factors | |
| Table 13 | |

| | | | Overall si | Irvival | |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|--------------------|-----------------|------------------|-----------------|
| Factors | Category | Univariate analy | ysis | Multivariate ana | ysis |
| | | OR (95%CI) | <i>P</i> -value | OR (95%CI) | <i>P</i> -value |
| Age (years) | < 60 vs. ≥ 60 | 1.98 (1.14-3.45) | 0.016* | 0.69 (0.30-1.60) | 0.387 |
| Gender | Male vs. Female | 1.35 (0.70-2.61) | 0.374 | | |
| AST (IU/L) | < 60 vs. ≥ 60 | 3.14 (1.76-5.63) | <0.001* | 0.92 (0.39-2.19) | 0.853 |
| ALT (IU/L) | < 60 vs. ≥ 60 | 2.74 (1.62-4.65) | <0.001* | 1.34 (0.63-2.82) | 0.445 |
| Platelet count (10 9 /L) | ≥ 150 vs. < 150 | 2.94 (1.55-5.57) | 0.001* | 1.94 (0.75-5.02) | 0.174 |
| Log10 HBV DNA (IU/mL) | < 4.0 vs. ≥ 4.0 | 0.78 (0.39-1.56) | 0.475 | | |
| Child-Pugh classification | A vs. B and C | 1.42 (0.67-3.02) | 0.361 | | |
| Alpha fetoprotein (ng/mL) | < 100 vs. ≥ 100 | 5.91 (2.99-11.68) | <0.001* | 3.64 (1.53-8.64) | 0.003* |
| FIB-4 index | <3.40 vs. ≥ 3.40 | 0.87 (0.52-1.51) | 0.656 | | |
| Tumor size (cm.) | <5.0 vs. ≥ 5.0 | 10.55 (4.69-23.75) | <0.001* | 2.10 (0.62-7.10) | 0.231 |
| BCLC stage | 0, A vs. B vs. C, D | 4.42 (2.91-6.70) | <0.001* | 3.00 (1.53-5.87) | 0.001* |
| Plasma BAFF level (pg/ml) | < 1100 vs. ≥ 1100 | 3.10 (1.75-5.49) | <0.001* | 2.28 (1.07-4.87) | 0.034* |
| rs9514828 | CC vs. CT + TT | 1.32 (0.52-3.32) | 0.557 | | |
| rs12583006 | AA vs. AT + TT | 0.98 (0.57-1.67) | 0.931 | | |

4.8 Flow cytometry

4.8.1 Gaing strategies for B cell subpopulations and BAFF receptors

The representative flow cytometry plots showing out gating strategies in this study. Lymphocytes were identified in forward scatter area (FSC-A) and side scatter area (SSC-A). B cells were gated according to the expression of CD19 after gating single cells by forward scatter high (FSC-H) and FSC-A. To analyze the frequency of B cell subpopulations, CD19 positive B cells were further identified and gated by the expression of CD38 and CD24. The relative expression of CD38 and CD24 to identify transitional B cell (CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi}) and plasmablast (CD19⁺CD24⁻CD38⁺). Moreover, CD19⁺CD38⁻CD27⁺IgD⁺) and memory B cells (CD19⁺CD38⁻CD27⁺IgD⁺) according to the expression of IgD and CD27.

The expression of PD-L1 was also gated on transitional B cell $(CD19^+CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi})$ to identify the expression of PD-L1 on regulatory B cells (Bregs) phenotype (Blair et al., 2010; Flores-Borja et al., 2013). Moreover, three BAFF receptors including BAFF receptor (BAFFR), transmembrane activator, calcium modulator, and cyclophilin ligand interactor (TACI) and B cell maturation Ag (BCMA) were identified on all B cell subpopulations (Figure 32).

จุฬาลงกรณีมหาวิทยาลัย Chulalongkorn University



Figure 32 Gating strategies for the characterization of B cell subpopulations and BAFF receptors; BAFFR, TACI and BCMA

4.8.2 The percentages of total CD19⁺ B cells and PD-L1 on CD19⁺ B cells

The frequency of total CD19+ B cells was determined by flow cytometry. The results showed no statistically significant differences among healthy controls (12.7 \pm 5.5, n=9), chronic HBV patients (12.4 \pm 4.8, n=34) and HBV-related HCC patients (11.5 \pm 7.9, n=22).



Figure 33 Peripheral blood CD19⁺ B cell levels in healthy controls, chronic HBV patients and HBV-related HCC patients

The expression of PD-L1 on CD19⁺ B cells was also measured and found a significantly increase in the percentages of CD19⁺ B cells expressing PD-L1 in chronic HBV patients (42.3 ± 21.2) compared with healthy controls (23.8 ± 14.3 , P=0.018) and HBV-related HCC patients (31.1 ± 16.7 , P=0.041) (Figure 34A). Moreover, CD19⁺ B cells expressing PD-L1 was also increase as the corresponding mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) in chronic HBV patients (850.9 ± 537.6) compared with healthy controls (510.4 ± 223.5 , P=0.007) and HBV-related HCC patients (585.5 ± 329.5 , P=0.026) (Figure 34B).





4.8.3 The percentages of transitional B cell (CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi}) and PD-L1 on transitional B cell (CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi})

The frequency of transitional B cells were assessed for bright CD24 and CD38 co-expression. The result did not show any significant differences among patient groups; healthy controls (6.2 ± 2.5), chronic HBV patients (4.6 ± 2.5) and HBV-related HCC patients (6.0 ± 3.5).



Figure 35 The percentages of transitional B cell (CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi}) in healthy controls, chronic HBV patients and HBV-related HCC patients

Moreover, PD-L1 expression was examined on these transitional B cells. The result displayed a high MFI of transitional PD-L1 expressing B cells in chronic HBV patients (1838.2 \pm 1733.9) when compared with healthy controls (507.6 \pm 259.0, *P*<0.001) and HBV-related HCC patients (613.6 \pm 392.8, *P*<0.001). However, there was no statistically significant differences of any patient groups based on percentage of expression (27.9 \pm 15.8, 45.0 \pm 24.1 and 60.9 \pm 135.4 in healthy controls, chronic HBV and HBV-related HCC patients, respectively). (Figure 36)



Figure *36* Levels of PD-L*1* expression on transitional B cells (CD19⁺CD24^{hi}CD38^{hi}) (A) percentages, (B) Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI)

4.8.4 The percentages of B cell subpopulations and three BAFF receptors

B cell subpopulations were characterized based on the phenotypic criteria as mentioned before. As shown in figure 32A, percentages of naïve B cells were significantly reduce in HBV-related HCC patients (16.3 ± 11.4) when compared with heathy controls (45.9 ± 17.9 , P=0.001) and chronic HBV patients (39.1 ± 16.7 , P<0.001). Additionally, our study observed the same trend of memory B cells and plasmablast percentages. Indeed, HBV-related HCC patients had significantly higher frequencies of memory B cells (49.8 ± 20.4) when compared with healthy controls (21.7 ± 10.8 , P=0.0001) and chronic HBV patients (24.0 ± 9.3 , P<0.0001) (Figure 32C) as well as in plasmablast B cells were significantly higher in HBV-related HCC patients (3.7 ± 2.2) when cempared with healthy controls (1.3 ± 0.5 , P<0.0001) and chronic HBV patients (2.1 ± 2.2 , P=0.012) (Figure 32D). In contrast, no statistically significant differences was observed in effector B cells between patients and healthy controls (21.4 ± 13.2 ,



23.9±13.2 and 19.3±13.3 in healthy controls, chronic HBV and HBV-related HCC patients, respectively) (Figure 32B).

ุหาลงกรณ์มหาวิทยาลัย

Figure *37* Circulating B cell subpopulations in healthy controls, chronic HBV patients and HBV-related HCC patients (A) % of naïve B cells, (B) % of effector B cells, (C) % of memory B cells and (D) % of plasmablast B cells

Furthermore, we also compared the expression of BAFF receptor on B cell subpopulations. In naïve B cells, we found significant differences between BAFFR and TACI in HBV-related HCC patients compared with chronic HBV patients and healthy controls (Figure 38). In memory B cells, we found significant differences of BAFFR and TACI expression between HBV-related HCC patients compared with chronic HBV patients and healthy controls (Figure 40). However, no significant difference of three BAFF receptors was detected between patient groups in percentages of expression and MFI values both in effector B cells (Figure 39) and plasmablast (Figure 41).



Figure 38 Percentages (left) and mean fluorescense intensity (MFI) (right) of BAFF receptor on naïve B cells (A) BAFFR, (B) TACI and (C) BCMA



(A)

Figure *39* Percentages (left) and mean fluorescense intensity (MFI) (right) of BAFF receptor on effector B cells (A) BAFFR, (B) TACI and (C) BCMA



Figure 40 Percentages (left) and mean fluorescense intensity (MFI) (right) of BAFF receptor on memory B cells (A) BAFFR, (B) TACI and (C) BCMA



(A)

Figure 41 Percentages (left) and mean fluorescense intensity (MFI) (right) of BAFF receptor on plasmablast (A) BAFFR, (B) TACI and (C) BCMA

4.9 The expression of BAFF induced by IFN stimulation in an in vitro study

4.9.1 The expression of BAFF mRNA in HepG2 and HepG2.2.15 cell lines

We evaluate the expression of BAFF mRNA in HepG2 and HepG2.2.15 by realtime PCR. As shown in figure 42, the expression of BAFF mRNA in HepG2.2.15 cells were significantly lower compared with that in HepG2 cells (P=0.0103).



Figure 42 The expression of BAFF mRNA in HepG2 and HepG2.2.15 cells

4.9.2 BAFF mRNA levels induced in response to interferon- α (IFN- α) in HepG2.2.15 cells

To test whether IFN- α enhances BAFF expression in HepG2.2.15 cells, we analyzed BAFF expression after treated with IFN- α . We found the expression of BAFF was increase in response to dose-dependent of IFN- α (Figure 43A). Moreover, IFN- α induced a time-dependent of BAFF mRNA expression with the highest level at 6 hour (Figure 43B).





4.9.3 The effect of interferon and rhBAFF in HepG2.2.15 cells

We further investigated the effect of BAFF and IFN treatment in HepG2.2.15 cells and found that treatment of recombinant human IFN at the concentration of tested (10^4 IU/ml) with or without recombinant human BAFF (20 ng/ml) can suppress HBV S mRNA expression in HepG2.2.15 cells when compared with untreated cells. However, cells treated with recombinant human BAFF only showed a bit higher of HBV S mRNA expression than other conditions. (Figure 44)



Figure 44 HBV S mRNA expression in HepG2.2.15-treated cells

Chapter V

Discussion

Hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection is a major health problem, which affects approximately 2 billion people worldwide. In addition, approximately 350-400 million people are chronically infected with the virus, leading to develop severe complications, including liver cirrhosis and hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC). HBsAg clearance/seroconversion is the ultimate goal in patients with CHB, which is considered to be a functional cure resulting in favorable long-term clinical outcomes including reduced rates of cirrhosis and HCC development. Our study found that approximately 7% of patients with HBeAg-positive CHB treated with peg-IFN are HBsAg clearance and it was also observed in previous report (3-7%). Moreover, HBeAg seroconversion with sustained virological response (VR) is another goal that is used in clinical practice due to the low rate of achieving HBsAg clearance. However, low HBV DNA level at a single time point might not guarantee persistently viral suppression in the natural history. Therefore, another valuable parameter reflecting effective immunity following antiviral therapy is a reduction in serum HBsAg concentrations. Indeed, significant HBsAg decline represents an immune control of chronic HBV infection, helps differentiate patients likely to achieve sustained off-treatment response and offers a good prediction of subsequent HBsAg clearance in long-term follow-up. According to this concept, we used a combined response as the main therapeutic outcome in HBV cohort.

The development of HCC is the primary concern especially in patients, who did not have a success of viral clearance. Multiple treatment options are currently available for HCC including liver resection, liver transplant, radiofrequency ablation (RFA), transarterial chemoembilization (TACE) and targeted therapy, although the pronosis of HCC remains poor with a low survival rate due to late diagnosis and the aggressive of the tumor. Thus, identification of a promising pronostic marker as a direction to determine the risk-factor affecting the prognosis of these patients. The pathogenesis of HBV-related HCC is thought to be a multi-staged process that is mainly associated with immune-mediated liver injury (Bertoletti & Ferrari, 2012).

Accumulating evidence has demonstrated the critical roles of adaptive immunity response to HBV infection that contributes in chronic liver inflammation leading to hepatocarcinogenesis (Doi et al., 2018). Although most reports have focused on the effects of HBV-specific T cells, relatively little is currently known regarding the clinical importance of B-cell immunity in HCC progression and prognosis.

In this study, we confirmed the previous report that showed the significantly higher of circulating BAFF levels in patients with HCC compared with healthy controls and non-HCC patients. Among patients without HCC, plasma BAFF levels had a gradually increase from inactive carriers (IC) to the immune active (IA) patients. Plasma BAFF levels were also significantly positively correlated with a surrogate marker of liver injury, alanine aminotransferase (ALT) levels but not aspartate aminotransferase (AST) according most HCC patients have liver fibrosis. These data indicated that BAFF is increased during an active inflammation that possibly by the induction of type I interferon. Interestingly, among patients with immune active (IA) group, plasma BAFF levels were significantly increase in patients with HBeAg-positive as compared with patients with HBeAg-negative. Consistent with our study, previous report from an in vitro study demonstrated that HBeAg itself was capable of promoting BAFF activation through regulating monocyte function. Our data also investigated that plasma BAFF levels were significantly correlated with liver fibrosis assessed by Fibrosis-4 (FIB-4) index and their levels were significantly increased in patients with cirrhosis compared with the non-cirrhosis, supporting previous findings that BAFF levels progressively increase in cirrhosis independent of underlying etiologies of liver disease.

Additionally, we found that increased plasma levels of BAFF were significantly correlated with aggressive tumor progression in patients with HBV-related HCC. Specifically, a high plasma BAFF level was observed more frequently in patients with high tumor burden and advanced stage of BCLC staging system. Multivariate analysis revealed that BAFF level was an unfavorable independent predictor of survival in patients with HCC, especially in patients with high circulating BAFF (≥1100 pg/ml) at initial presentation, which had approximately 2-fold increased risk of adverse outcome compared to patients with lower BAFF levels. These data strongly suggest

that the prognosis of HCC is influenced by the extent of circulating BAFF expression. Collectively, these findings demonstrate that plasma BAFF may represent a useful biomarker in monitoring tumor progression and prognosis in patients with HBV-related HCC.

Similar findings of BAFF levels in association with tumor progression and prognosis were observed in hematological and non-hematological malignancies (Bienertova-Vasku et al., 2012; Fragioudaki et al., 2012; S. J. Kim et al., 2008; Lin et al., 2010; Novak et al., 2004). For instance, the levels of BAFF were positively correlated with severity of the disease, poor therapeutic outcomes and adverse clinical outcome in patients with lymphoma (S. J. Kim et al., 2008; Novak et al., 2004). In addition, BAFF levels were associated with disease activity and advanced stage in patients with multiple myeloma (Fragioudaki et al., 2012). Moreover, circulating BAFF levels were highly expressed in patients with pancreatic cancer, especially in patients with UICC stage IV (Koizumi et al., 2013). Significantly elevated circulating BAFF were also found in adolescent patients with certain types of sarcoma in relation to cancer-related cachexia (Bienertova-Vasku et al., 2012). These data highlight an essential and active role of BAFF in disease severity of HCC and other tumor types.

Additionally, our study investigated whether baseline plasma BAFF levels were associated with treatment response in HBeAg-positive patients who were treated with peg-IFN. Our data clearly demonstrated that a high baseline plasma BAFF level was negatively correlated with combined response in those patients. Based on the best cut-off value for BAFF, 770 pg/ml, exhibited a PPV and NPV of approximately 47.1% and 88.0%, respectively. These results indicate that BAFF may be appropriate to individualize decision-making prior to beginning peg-IFN therapy in HBeAg-positive patients. We also found that plasma BAFF levels were increased during peg-IFN therapy and decreased after cessation of the treatment. These finding indicated that the up-regulation of BAFF was regulated by the induction of peg-IFN. Similarly finding of BAFF levels in chronic HCV patients who also received peg-IFN therapy (Lake-Bakaar et al., 2012). On the contrary, the kinetics of BAFF were not correlated with treatment response between responders and non-responders but they had similar pattern and dynamic changes in BAFF concentrations during peg-IFN

therapy. Therefore, using on-treatment BAFF is probably not suitable for predicting peg-IFN responsiveness in our cohort.

The novel finding in this study is the strong association of low plasma BAFF levels at the beginning of peg-IFN with a successful treatment response. Lower baseline of BAFF levels were associated with a rapid decrease in HBsAg levels and higher rates of HBsAg clearance at the end of follow-up. Interestingly, similar findings in patients with chronic HCV infection also demonstrated that responders to IFN-based therapy also had lower baseline BAFF levels than non-responders (Lake-Bakaar et al., 2012). Moreover, BAFF levels were significantly higher in patients with acute HCV infection evolving to chronicity than in those with a self-limited course (Tarantino et al., 2009).

The mechanisms by which baseline BAFF concentrations modulate therapeutic outcome of peg-IFN in patients with HBeAg-positive CHB are largely unknown. BAFF has emerged as a cytokine that plays an essential role in B cell proliferation, differentiation, survival and antibody production (Lied & Berstad, 2011). B cells are capable to reduce viral spread by secrete neutralizing antibodies. Moreover, BAFF can acts as antigen-presenting cells to recognize the specific antigen and then modulate specific T cell response. When HBV infected to the hepatocyte, the process of HBV-specific antibodies that produced by B cells and functional HBVspecific T cells are important in clinical outcomes of HBV infection (Bertoletti & Ferrari, 2016b). It has been shown that the induction of vigorous helper and cytotoxic T cell can induce B cell activation, which is leads to an increasing of anti-viral T cell response and favours neutralizing antibody formation. However, the interaction of B cells and T cells could also up-regulate the expression of programmed death-1 (PD-1) and secreting of interleukin-10 (IL-10), which are hallmark of T cell exhaustion during chronic viral infection (Herkel & Carambia, 2011). Recent data has shown that total B-cell hyper-activation but impaired generation of HBV-specific B-cells are commonly found in chronic HBV infection and reversal of these processes is associated with HBsAg seroconversion (Xiangsheng Xu et al., 2015). Moreover, it has been demonstrated in a cell culture model that HBeAg itself is able to regulate monocyte function and promote BAFF activation (Bingru Lu et al., 2017). Given these observations, we propose that high BAFF concentrations found in this study might reflect B-cell hyper-activation, thereby altering T cell function and reducing response to peg-IFN in patients with HBeAg-positive CHB. A better understanding of the mechanism by which BAFF and B cells modulate T-cell function in the presence and absence of peg-IFN in patients with CHB requires further investigations.

Our data also analysed the frequency of rs9514828 and found that rs9514828 CT+TT genotypes was significantly higher distributed in HCC and non-HCC patients, compared with healthy controls. However, significant difference in their distributions between patients with HCC and non-HCC was not observed. Moreover, rs9514828 genotypes exhibited association with mRNA but not plasma BAFF levels or other clinical parameters of patients with chronic HBV infection. These results suggested that CT+TT genotypes might be associated with susceptibility to HBV infection but not related to disease progression or HCC development in Thai populations. Our result of another BAFF polymorphism, rs12583006, showed that this genetic variation did not have any association with mRNA and plasma BAFF levels and, more importantly, displayed no role on clinical significance in patients with chronic HBV infection.

According to the study of BAFF polymorphisms, rs9514828 polymorphism is located within the binding site of the myeloid zinc finger protein 1 (MZF1) transcription factor (TF) and its functionality has been shown in luciferase assays, where the rs9514828 T allele was associated with higher luciferase activity (Novak et al., 2006). These genetic polymorphism of BAFF might result in changes of BAFF activity and expression, and was reported to be associated with the pathogenesis of autoimmune, hematological malignancies or other chronic infection diseases (Jasek et al., 2016; Nezos et al., 2014; Anne J Novak et al., 2009). Moreover, it has been reported that the T allele of rs9514828 polymorphism in the BAFF promoter was predominant in patients with HCV-associated mixed cryoglobulinemia (MC) and associated with a high level of serum BAFF when compared with chronic HCV patients (Ayad, Elbanna, Elneily, & Sakr, 2015; Gragnani et al., 2011). A recent study of rs9514828 and rs12583006 polymorphisms was reported in various liver diseases related to chronic HBV infection and the results showed that the rs9514828 and rs12583006 genotypes had no significant association with serum BAFF levels. However, they found that the T allele of rs9514828 may activate the liver inflammation in chronic HBV infection and the combinatorial effect of both polymorphisms may confer susceptibility to chronic HBV infection and infection resolution (Han et al., 2017).

As BAFF has emerged a critical factor of peripheral B cell survival, it is likely that B cells may be contributable to disease progression and HCC development in patients with chronic HBV infection. Therefore, we also evaluated the expression of CD19⁺ B cells in chronic HBV patients and we found no significant difference of B cells in those patients. However, there have been many reports that CD19⁺ B cells expressed in most acute lymphoblastic leukemias (ALL), chronic lymphocytic leukemias (CLL) and B cell lymphomas (K. Wang, Wei, & Liu, 2012). A previous study directly demonstrated that B cell-deficient mice have an impact on liver fibrosis that induced by CCl4, representing a pro-fibrogenic activity of B cells (Novobrantseva et al., 2005). A more recent report showed that intrahepatic B cells were responsible for hepatic stellate cell-mediated liver fibrosis through the production of several inflammatory cytokines (Thapa et al., 2015). Elimination of B cells, but not T cells, could promote the resolution of liver fibrosis and prevent important signaling pathways towards HCC development in an animal model (Faggioli et al., 2018). Moreover, the role of B cells was also confirmed in patients with HCC demonstrating that increased infiltrating B cells within cancerous tissues was linked to poor tumor differentiation, advanced stages and reduced disease-free survival of HCC. Similarly, increasing percentage of B cells in PBMCs was also demonstrated in patients with more advanced tumor stages compared to those with early HCC (Lin et al., 2010). Taken together, these data highlight the significance of B cells in modulating liver fibrogenesis and, more importantly, the development and progression of HCC.

Moreover, we also identified the expression of B cell subpopulations and BAFF receptors on these subpopulations. This study found that naïve B cells were significantly decreased but memory B cells and plasmablasts were significantly increased in HCC patients as compared with non-HCC patients and healthy controls. A similar result of previously study in colorectal cancer (CRC) patients found that peripheral blood of CRC patients contained a higher percentage of memory and plasma B cells but lower percentage of naïve B cells (Alexander Shimabukuro-Vornhagen et al., 2014). As known that circulating of tumor lymphoid cells have an important role on the prognosis of malignant tumors. A study has been shown that antibodies produced by B cells are neccessary in the cancer progression by initiate chronic inflammation (De Visser, Korets, & Coussens, 2005). However, only few reports focused on B cells (Gooden, de Bock, Leffers, Daemen, & Nijman, 2011; Nelson, 2010) and it is possible that regulatory B cell was included in the fraction of memory B cells and plasmablast and may be obtained by further analyzing in the future.

Regulatory B cells were also reported to suppress T cell responses (Balkwill, Montfort, & Capasso, 2013) Moreover, there are many reports focused on programmed death-1 (PD-1) or PD-L1, which is a critical suppressive molecule and can promote the development of regulatory T cells (Tregs) as well (Guan et al., 2016; Hamel et al., 2010). Our study found that there was no a significantly difference of PD-L1 expression on regulatory B cell phenotype in HCC patients. However, it needs to to be further studied the fuctional assay of these phenotype of regulatory B cell to confirm their function. Therefore, the study of B cell subpopulations might be help us to find the effective treatment for cancer.

Lastly, we also analysed the expression of BAFF receptors on B cell subpopulations and we found the expression of BAFFR was decreased, whereas the expression of TACI was increased on naïve B cells in HBV-related HCC patients compared with non-HCC patients and healthy controls. On the contrary, the expression of BAFFR was increased, whereas the expression of TACI was decreased on memory B cells in HCC patients compared with non-HCC patients and healthy controls. This study indicated that BAFF and TACI but not BCMA might play a role in B cell development and survival in HBV-related HCC patients. A previous study found that BAFFR is important not only for B cell development, but also is the major mediator of BAFF-dependent costimulatory responses in peripheral B and T cells (Ng et al., 2004). Moreover, BAFFR is the most important receptor because of a critical role in regulating B-cell survival (Thompson et al., 2001) and targeting of BAFFR in

patients with precursor B-lineage acute lymphoblastic leukemia (B-ALL) impact the survival and basal proliferation of leukemia B-cell precursors (Maia et al., 2011). However, the mechanisms involved in HCC of BAFF or BAFF receptors has not been elucidated. More importantly, the design of therapeutic target of BAFF or BAFF receptors might also be important for HCC patients in the future.

Although there are few reports on the role of BAFF in predicting a treatment response and disease progression in chronic HBV patients, there were several limitations in our study. First, the sample size in patients with or without HCC was relatively small. Second, the study was retrospective and there may be many possible confounding factors, such as we can not matching these patients by age and sex or there have some missing data especially in non-HCC patients. However, BAFF levels were significantly increase during therapy and then decreased to baseline after peg-IFN cessation in this situation. Third, the analysis of genetic variation included only two polymorphisms that might not be the same result as in others ethnic populations. Moreover, the present study included only patients with HBeAg-positive but did not recruit patients with HBeAg-negative.

CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

Chapter VI

Conclusion

In summary, our results strongly showed that baseline BAFF levels were predictive of a clinically relevant response to peg-IFN in Thai patients with HBeAgpositive CHB patients. Thus, measurement of BAFF prior to peg-IFN would not only motivate patients to adhere to treatment but also could maximize therapeutic costeffectiveness. We also found that a high level of plasma BAFF was significantly associated with tumor progression and invasiveness. Elevated plasma BAFF level was an independent prognostic factor of overall survival. These findings have clinical implications as plasma BAFF at initial diagnosis could serve as a prognostic marker for patients with HBV-related HCC. Additionally, we found that naïve B cells were significantly decreased but memory B cells and plasmablasts were significantly increased in HCC patients as compared with non-HCC patients and healthy controls. The expression of BAFFR was decreased, whereas the expression of TACI was increased on naïve B cells in HBV-related HCC patients compared with CHB patients and healthy controls. Also, these data might indicate that B cell immunity is contributable to the development and progression of HCC in patients with chronic HBV infection.

However, as the sample size of HBeAg-positive patients enrolled in this study was limited, a replicate study with larger number of patients is needed to verify these observations and would provide further insights into the role of BAFF and B cell response in patients with chronic HBV. Moreover, further study also needs validate these observations in patients with HCC regardless of underlying etiologies and to elucidate the mechanistic roles of B cell-mediated immune response in hepatocarcinogenesis.

REFERENCES

- Alsaab, H. O., Sau, S., Alzhrani, R., Tatiparti, K., Bhise, K., Kashaw, S. K., & Iyer, A. K. (2017). PD-1 and PD-L1 Checkpoint Signaling Inhibition for Cancer Immunotherapy: Mechanism, Combinations, and Clinical Outcome. *Front Pharmacol, 8*, 561. doi:10.3389/fphar.2017.00561
- Aspord, C., Bruder Costa, J., Jacob, M. C., Dufeu-Duchesne, T., Bertucci, I., Pouget, N., . . . group, A. H. P. s. (2016). Remodeling of B-Cell Subsets in Blood during Pegylated IFNalpha-2a Therapy in Patients with Chronic Hepatitis B Infection. *PLoS One, 11*(6), e0156200. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0156200
- Ayad, M. W., Elbanna, A. A., Elneily, D. A., & Sakr, A. S. (2015). Association of BAFF -871C/T Promoter Polymorphism with Hepatitis C-Related Mixed Cryoglobulinemia in a Cohort of Egyptian Patients. *Mol Diagn Ther, 19*(2), 99-106. doi:10.1007/s40291-015-0134-7
- Balkwill, F., Montfort, A., & Capasso, M. (2013). B regulatory cells in cancer. *Trends Immunol, 34*(4), 169-173. doi:10.1016/j.it.2012.10.007
- Bertoletti, A., & Ferrari, C. (2012). Innate and adaptive immune responses in chronic hepatitis B virus infections: towards restoration of immune control of viral infection. *Gut*, *61*(12), 1754-1764. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301073
- Bertoletti, A., & Ferrari, C. (2016a). Adaptive immunity in HBV infection. *J Hepatol, 64*(1 Suppl), S71-83. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2016.01.026
- Bertoletti, A., & Ferrari, C. (2016b). Adaptive immunity in HBV infection. *J Hepatol, 64*(1 Suppl), S71-S83. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2016.01.026
- Bienertova-Vasku, J., Lungova, A., Bienert, P., Zlamal, F., Tomandl, J., Tomandlova, M., . . . Sterba, J. (2012). Circulating levels of B-cell activating factor in paediatric patients with malignancy with or without cancer-related cachexia. *klinická onkologie*, 25(2), S58-S63.
- Blair, P. A., Norena, L. Y., Flores-Borja, F., Rawlings, D. J., Isenberg, D. A., Ehrenstein, M. R., & Mauri, C. (2010). CD19(+)CD24(hi)CD38(hi) B cells exhibit regulatory capacity in healthy individuals but are functionally impaired in systemic Lupus

Erythematosus patients. *Immunity, 32*(1), 129-140. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2009.11.009

- Blum, H. E., & Moradpour, D. (2002). Viral pathogenesis of hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 17 Suppl 3,* S413-420.
- Bruix, J., & Sherman, M. (2005). Diagnosis of Small HCC. *Gastroenterology*, *129*(4), 1364. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2005.08.046
- Cheema, G. S., Roschke, V., Hilbert, D. M., & Stohl, W. (2001). Elevated serum B lymphocyte stimulator levels in patients with systemic immune-based rheumatic diseases. *Arthritis Rheum, 44*(6), 1313-1319. doi:10.1002/1529-0131(200106)44:61313::AID-ART2233.0.CO;2-S
- Claes, N., Fraussen, J., Stinissen, P., Hupperts, R., & Somers, V. (2015). B Cells Are Multifunctional Players in Multiple Sclerosis Pathogenesis: Insights from Therapeutic Interventions. *Front Immunol,* 6, 642. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00642
- Colombo, M., & Sangiovanni, A. (2015). Treatment of hepatocellular carcinoma: beyond international guidelines. *Liver Int, 35 Suppl 1*, 129-138. doi:10.1111/liv.12713
- De Visser, K. E., Korets, L. V., & Coussens, L. M. (2005). De novo carcinogenesis promoted by chronic inflammation is B lymphocyte dependent. *Cancer cell,* 7(5), 411-423.
- Doi, H., Hayashi, E., Arai, J., Tojo, M., Morikawa, K., Eguchi, J., . . . Yoshida, H. (2018). Enhanced B-cell differentiation driven by advanced cirrhosis resulting in hyperglobulinemia. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol*. doi:10.1111/jgh.14123
- El-Serag, H. B. (2011). Hepatocellular carcinoma. *N Engl J Med, 365*(12), 1118-1127. doi:10.1056/NEJMra1001683
- Emmerich, F., Bal, G., Barakat, A., Milz, J., Muhle, C., Martinez-Gamboa, L., . . . Salama, A. (2007). High-level serum B-cell activating factor and promoter polymorphisms in patients with idiopathic thrombocytopenic purpura. *Br J Haematol, 136*(2), 309-314. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2141.2006.06431.x
- Faggioli, F., Palagano, E., Di Tommaso, L., Donadon, M., Marrella, V., Recordati, C., . . . Cassani, B. (2018). B lymphocytes limit senescence-driven fibrosis resolution and favor hepatocarcinogenesis in mouse liver injury. *Hepatology*, 67(5), 1970-1985.

doi:10.1002/hep.29636

- Flores-Borja, F., Bosma, A., Ng, D., Reddy, V., Ehrenstein, M. R., Isenberg, D. A., & Mauri,
 C. (2013). CD19+ CD24hiCD38hi B cells maintain regulatory T cells while limiting
 TH1 and TH17 differentiation. *Science translational medicine*, *5*(173), 173ra123173ra123.
- Forner, A., Gilabert, M., Bruix, J., & Raoul, J. L. (2014). Treatment of intermediate-stage hepatocellular carcinoma. *Nat Rev Clin Oncol, 11*(9), 525-535. doi:10.1038/nrclinonc.2014.122
- Fragioudaki, M., Boula, A., Tsirakis, G., Psarakis, F., Spanoudakis, M., Papadakis, I. S., . . . Alexandrakis, M. G. (2012). B cell-activating factor: its clinical significance in multiple myeloma patients. *Ann Hematol, 91*(9), 1413-1418. doi:10.1007/s00277-012-1470-x
- Gao, J., Xie, L., Yang, W. S., Zhang, W., Gao, S., Wang, J., & Xiang, Y. B. (2012). Risk factors of hepatocellular carcinoma--current status and perspectives. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 13*(3), 743-752.
- Gao, Q., Wang, X.-Y., Qiu, S.-J., Yamato, I., Sho, M., Nakajima, Y., . . . Xiao, Y.-S. (2009). Overexpression of PD-L1 significantly associates with tumor aggressiveness and postoperative recurrence in human hepatocellular carcinoma. *Clinical Cancer Research, 15*(3), 971-979.
- Gerlich, W. H. (2013). Medical virology of hepatitis B: how it began and where we are now. *Virol J, 10,* 239. doi:10.1186/1743-422X-10-239
- Ghebeh, H., Mohammed, S., Al-Omair, A., Qattan, A., Lehe, C., Al-Qudaihi, G., . . . Dermime, S. (2006). The B7-H1 (PD-L1) T lymphocyte-inhibitory molecule is expressed in breast cancer patients with infiltrating ductal carcinoma: correlation with important high-risk prognostic factors. *Neoplasia, 8*(3), 190-198. doi:10.1593/neo.05733
- Gooden, M. J., de Bock, G. H., Leffers, N., Daemen, T., & Nijman, H. W. (2011). The prognostic influence of tumour-infiltrating lymphocytes in cancer: a systematic review with meta-analysis. *British journal of cancer, 105*(1), 93.
- Gottenberg, J. E., Busson, M., Cohen-Solal, J., Lavie, F., Abbed, K., Kimberly, R. P., . . . Mariette, X. (2005). Correlation of serum B lymphocyte stimulator and beta2

microglobulin with autoantibody secretion and systemic involvement in primary Sjogren's syndrome. *Ann Rheum Dis, 64*(7), 1050-1055. doi:10.1136/ard.2004.030643

- Gragnani, L., Piluso, A., Giannini, C., Caini, P., Fognani, E., Monti, M., . . . Zignego, A. L. (2011). Genetic determinants in hepatitis C virus-associated mixed cryoglobulinemia: role of polymorphic variants of BAFF promoter and Fcgamma receptors. *Arthritis Rheum, 63*(5), 1446-1451. doi:10.1002/art.30274
- Gross, J. A., Johnston, J., Mudri, S., Enselman, R., Dillon, S. R., Madden, K., . . . Clegg, C.
 H. (2000). TACI and BCMA are receptors for a TNF homologue implicated in B-cell autoimmune disease. *Nature*, 404(6781), 995-999. doi:10.1038/35010115
- Guan, H., Wan, Y., Lan, J., Wang, Q., Wang, Z., Li, Y., . . . Shen, Y. (2016). PD-L1 is a critical mediator of regulatory B cells and T cells in invasive breast cancer. *Scientific reports, 6*, 35651.
- Hamanishi, J., Mandai, M., Iwasaki, M., Okazaki, T., Tanaka, Y., Yamaguchi, K., . . . Fujii, S. (2007). Programmed cell death 1 ligand 1 and tumor-infiltrating CD8+ T lymphocytes are prognostic factors of human ovarian cancer. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 104*(9), 3360-3365. doi:10.1073/pnas.0611533104
- Hamel, K. M., Cao, Y., Wang, Y., Rodeghero, R., Kobezda, T., Chen, L., & Finnegan, A. (2010). B7-H1 expression on non-B and non-T cells promotes distinct effects on T- and B-cell responses in autoimmune arthritis. *Eur J Immunol, 40*(11), 3117-3127. doi:10.1002/eji.201040690
- Han, Q., Yang, C., Li, N., Li, F., Sang, J., Lv, Y., . . . Liu, Z. (2017). Association of genetic variation in B-cell activating factor with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *Immunol Lett, 188*, 53-58. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2017.06.005
- He, B., Raab-Traub, N., Casali, P., & Cerutti, A. (2003). EBV-encoded latent membrane protein 1 cooperates with BAFF/BLyS and APRIL to induce T cell-independent Ig heavy chain class switching. *J Immunol*, *171*(10), 5215-5224.
- Herkel, J., & Carambia, A. (2011). Let it B in viral hepatitis? *J Hepatol, 55*(1), 5-7. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2010.12.027
- Inoue, S., Leitner, W. W., Golding, B., & Scott, D. (2006). Inhibitory effects of B cells on antitumor immunity. *Cancer Res, 66*(15), 7741-7747. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-

05-3766

- Jasek, M., Bojarska-Junak, A., Wagner, M., Sobczynski, M., Wolowiec, D., Rolinski, J., . . . Kusnierczyk, P. (2016). Association of variants in BAFF (rs9514828 and rs1041569) and BAFF-R (rs61756766) genes with the risk of chronic lymphocytic leukemia. *Tumour Biol, 37*(10), 13617-13626. doi:10.1007/s13277-016-5182-z
- Kawasaki, A., Tsuchiya, N., Fukazawa, T., Hashimoto, H., & Tokunaga, K. (2002). Analysis on the association of human BLYS (BAFF, TNFSF13B) polymorphisms with systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. *Genes Immun, 3*(7), 424-429. doi:10.1038/sj.gene.6363923
- Khan, A. R., Hams, E., Floudas, A., Sparwasser, T., Weaver, C. T., & Fallon, P. G. (2015). PD-L1hi B cells are critical regulators of humoral immunity. *Nat Commun, 6*, 5997. doi:10.1038/ncomms6997
- Kim, C. M., Koike, K., Saito, I., Miyamura, T., & Jay, G. (1991). HBx gene of hepatitis B virus induces liver cancer in transgenic mice. *Nature*, 351(6324), 317-320. doi:10.1038/351317a0
- Kim, S. J., Lee, S. J., Choi, I. Y., Park, Y., Choi, C. W., Kim, I. S., . . . Kim, B. S. (2008). Serum BAFF predicts prognosis better than APRIL in diffuse large B-cell lymphoma patients treated with rituximab plus CHOP chemotherapy. *European journal of haematology*, *81*(3), 177-184.
- Koizumi, M., Hiasa, Y., Kumagi, T., Yamanishi, H., Azemoto, N., Kobata, T., . . Onji, M. (2013). Increased B cell-activating factor promotes tumor invasion and metastasis in human pancreatic cancer. *PLoS One, 8*(8), e71367. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0071367
- Konishi, J., Yamazaki, K., Azuma, M., Kinoshita, I., Dosaka-Akita, H., & Nishimura, M. (2004). B7-H1 expression on non-small cell lung cancer cells and its relationship with tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes and their PD-1 expression. *Clin Cancer Res, 10*(15), 5094-5100. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-04-0428
- Kudo, M. (2017). Immune Checkpoint Inhibition in Hepatocellular Carcinoma: Basics and Ongoing Clinical Trials. *Oncology, 92 Suppl 1,* 50-62. doi:10.1159/000451016
- Lai, C. L., & Yuen, M. F. (2013). Prevention of hepatitis B virus-related hepatocellular

carcinoma with antiviral therapy. *Hepatology*, *57*(1), 399-408. doi:10.1002/hep.25937

- Lake-Bakaar, G., Jacobson, I., & Talal, A. (2012). B cell activating factor (BAFF) in the natural history of chronic hepatitis C virus liver disease and mixed cryoglobulinaemia. *Clin Exp Immunol, 170*(2), 231-237. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2012.04653.x
- Levrero, M., & Zucman-Rossi, J. (2016). Mechanisms of HBV-induced hepatocellular carcinoma. *J Hepatol, 64*(1 Suppl), S84-101. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2016.02.021
- Liang, T. J. (2009). Hepatitis B: the virus and disease. *Hepatology, 49*(5 Suppl), S13-21. doi:10.1002/hep.22881
- Lied, G. A., & Berstad, A. (2011). Functional and clinical aspects of the B-cell-activating factor (BAFF): a narrative review. *Scand J Immunol, 73*(1), 1-7. doi:10.1111/j.1365-3083.2010.02470.x
- Lin, J. C., Shih, Y. L., Chien, P. J., Liu, C. L., Lee, J. J., Liu, T. P., . . . Shih, C. M. (2010). Increased percentage of B cells in patients with more advanced hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hum Immunol*, *71*(1), 58-62. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2009.10.003
- Liu, J., Wang, H., Yu, Q., Zheng, S., Jiang, Y., Liu, Y., . . . Qiu, L. (2016). Aberrant frequency of IL-10-producing B cells and its association with Treg and MDSC cells in Non Small Cell Lung Carcinoma patients. *Hum Immunol,* 77(1), 84-89. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2015.10.015
- Liu, S., Koh, S. S., & Lee, C. G. (2016). Hepatitis B Virus X Protein and Hepatocarcinogenesis. *Int J Mol Sci, 17*(6). doi:10.3390/ijms17060940
- Lu, B., Zhang, B., Wang, L., Ma, C., Liu, X., Zhao, Y., & Jiao, Y. (2017). Hepatitis B Virus e Antigen Regulates Monocyte Function and Promotes B Lymphocyte Activation. *Viral Immunol, 30*(1), 35-44. doi:10.1089/vim.2016.0113
- Lu, B., Zhang, B., Wang, L., Ma, C., Liu, X., Zhao, Y., & Jiao, Y. (2017). Hepatitis B virus e antigen regulates monocyte function and promotes B lymphocyte activation. *Viral immunology, 30*(1), 35-44.
- Lu, L. (2013). Frontiers in B-cell immunology. *Cell Mol Immunol, 10*(2), 95-96. doi:10.1038/cmi.2012.66
- Mackay, F., & Schneider, P. (2009). Cracking the BAFF code. Nat Rev Immunol, 9(7), 491-

502. doi:10.1038/nri2572

- Mackay, F., Schneider, P., Rennert, P., & Browning, J. (2003). BAFF AND APRIL: a tutorial on B cell survival. *Annu Rev Immunol, 21*, 231-264. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141152
- Maia, S., Pelletier, M., Ding, J., Hsu, Y.-M., Sallan, S. E., Rao, S. P., . . . Cardoso, A. A.
 (2011). Aberrant expression of functional BAFF-system receptors by malignant B-cell precursors impacts leukemia cell survival. *PLoS One, 6*(6), e20787.
- Maini, M. K., & Gehring, A. J. (2016). The role of innate immunity in the immunopathology and treatment of HBV infection. *J Hepatol, 64*(1 Suppl), S60-S70. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2016.01.028
- McGookin, R. (1985). RNA extraction by the guanidine thiocyanate procedure. *Methods Mol Biol, 2*, 113-116. doi:10.1385/0-89603-064-4:113
- Milich, D. R., Chen, M., Schodel, F., Peterson, D. L., Jones, J. E., & Hughes, J. L. (1997). Role of B cells in antigen presentation of the hepatitis B core. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A, 94*(26), 14648-14653.
- Moore, P. A., Belvedere, O., Orr, A., Pieri, K., LaFleur, D. W., Feng, P., . . . Hilbert, D. M. (1999). BLyS: member of the tumor necrosis factor family and B lymphocyte stimulator. *Science*, *285*(5425), 260-263.
- Morikawa, K., Suda, G., & Sakamoto, N. (2016). Viral life cycle of hepatitis B virus: Host factors and druggable targets. *Hepatol Res, 46*(9), 871-877. doi:10.1111/hepr.12650
- Mukhopadhyay, A., Ni, J., Zhai, Y., Yu, G. L., & Aggarwal, B. B. (1999). Identification and characterization of a novel cytokine, THANK, a TNF homologue that activates apoptosis, nuclear factor-kappaB, and c-Jun NH2-terminal kinase. *J Biol Chem*, *274*(23), 15978-15981.
- Nardelli, B., Belvedere, O., Roschke, V., Moore, P. A., Olsen, H. S., Migone, T. S., . . . Hilbert, D. M. (2001). Synthesis and release of B-lymphocyte stimulator from myeloid cells. *Blood*, *97*(1), 198-204.
- Nassal, M. (2008). Hepatitis B viruses: reverse transcription a different way. *Virus Res, 134*(1-2), 235-249. doi:10.1016/j.virusres.2007.12.024

Nassal, M. (2015). HBV cccDNA: viral persistence reservoir and key obstacle for a cure of

chronic hepatitis B. Gut, 64(12), 1972-1984. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2015-309809

- Nelson, B. H. (2010). CD20+ B cells: the other tumor-infiltrating lymphocytes. *J Immunol, 185*(9), 4977-4982. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1001323
- Nezos, A., Papageorgiou, A., Fragoulis, G., Ioakeimidis, D., Koutsilieris, M., Tzioufas, A. G., .
 Mavragani, C. P. (2014). B-cell activating factor genetic variants in lymphomagenesis associated with primary Sjogren's syndrome. *J Autoimmun, 51*, 89-98. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2013.04.005
- Ng, L. G., Sutherland, A. P., Newton, R., Qian, F., Cachero, T. G., Scott, M. L., . . . Groom, J. (2004). B cell-activating factor belonging to the TNF family (BAFF)-R is the principal BAFF receptor facilitating BAFF costimulation of circulating T and B cells. *The Journal of Immunology, 173*(2), 807-817.
- Ni, Y., Lempp, F. A., Mehrle, S., Nkongolo, S., Kaufman, C., Falth, M., . . . Urban, S. (2014). Hepatitis B and D viruses exploit sodium taurocholate co-transporting polypeptide for species-specific entry into hepatocytes. *Gastroenterology*, 146(4), 1070-1083. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2013.12.024
- Nomi, T., Sho, M., Akahori, T., Hamada, K., Kubo, A., Kanehiro, H., . . . Nakajima, Y. (2007). Clinical significance and therapeutic potential of the programmed death-1 ligand/programmed death-1 pathway in human pancreatic cancer. *Clin Cancer Res, 13*(7), 2151-2157. doi:10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-06-2746
- Novak, A. J., Grote, D. M., Stenson, M., Ziesmer, S. C., Witzig, T. E., Habermann, T. M., . . . Ansell, S. M. (2004). Expression of BLyS and its receptors in B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma: correlation with disease activity and patient outcome. *Blood, 104*(8), 2247-2253. doi:10.1182/blood-2004-02-0762
- Novak, A. J., Grote, D. M., Ziesmer, S. C., Kline, M. P., Manske, M. K., Slager, S., . . . Ansell,
 S. M. (2006). Elevated serum B-lymphocyte stimulator levels in patients with familial lymphoproliferative disorders. *J Clin Oncol, 24*(6), 983-987. doi:10.1200/JCO.2005.02.7938
- Novak, A. J., Slager, S. L., Fredericksen, Z. S., Wang, A. H., Manske, M. M., Ziesmer, S., . . . Witzig, T. E. (2009). Genetic Variation in B-Cell–Activating Factor Is Associated with an Increased Risk of Developing B-Cell Non–Hodgkin Lymphoma. *Cancer research, 69*(10), 4217-4224.

- Novak, A. J., Slager, S. L., Fredericksen, Z. S., Wang, A. H., Manske, M. M., Ziesmer, S., . . . Ansell, S. M. (2009). Genetic variation in B-cell-activating factor is associated with an increased risk of developing B-cell non-Hodgkin lymphoma. *Cancer Res, 69*(10), 4217-4224. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-08-4915
- Novobrantseva, T. I., Majeau, G. R., Amatucci, A., Kogan, S., Brenner, I., Casola, S., . . . Ibraghimov, A. (2005). Attenuated liver fibrosis in the absence of B cells. *J Clin Invest, 115*(11), 3072-3082. doi:10.1172/JCI24798
- Okazaki, T., & Honjo, T. (2007). PD-1 and PD-1 ligands: from discovery to clinical application. *International immunology, 19*(7), 813-824.
- Oliviero, B., Cerino, A., Varchetta, S., Paudice, E., Pai, S., Ludovisi, S., . . . Mondelli, M. U. (2011). Enhanced B-cell differentiation and reduced proliferative capacity in chronic hepatitis C and chronic hepatitis B virus infections. *J Hepatol, 55*(1), 53-60. doi:10.1016/j.jhep.2010.10.016
- Pardee, A. D., & Butterfield, L. H. (2012). Immunotherapy of hepatocellular carcinoma: Unique challenges and clinical opportunities. *Oncoimmunology, 1*(1), 48-55. doi:10.4161/onci.1.1.18344
- Perrillo, R. (2009). Benefits and risks of interferon therapy for hepatitis B. *Hepatology, 49*(5 Suppl), S103-111. doi:10.1002/hep.22956
- Qian, L., Bian, G. R., Zhou, Y., Wang, Y., Hu, J., Liu, X., & Xu, Y. (2015). Clinical significance of regulatory B cells in the peripheral blood of patients with oesophageal cancer. *Cent Eur J Immunol, 40*(2), 263-265. doi:10.5114/ceji.2015.52840
- Rodriguez, B., Valdez, H., Freimuth, W., Butler, T., Asaad, R., & Lederman, M. M. (2003). Plasma levels of B-lymphocyte stimulator increase with HIV disease progression. *AIDS, 17*(13), 1983-1985. doi:10.1097/01.aids.0000076325.42412.a1
- Rosser, E. C., & Mauri, C. (2015). Regulatory B cells: origin, phenotype, and function. *Immunity*, *42*(4), 607-612. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.005
- Roth, W., Wagenknecht, B., Klumpp, A., Naumann, U., Hahne, M., Tschopp, J., & Weller,
 M. (2001). APRIL, a new member of the tumor necrosis factor family, modulates
 death ligand-induced apoptosis. *Cell Death Differ, 8*(4), 403-410.
 doi:10.1038/sj.cdd.4400827
- Rustgi, V., Nelson, D. R., Balan, V., Abelson, R. D., Fiscella, M., Migone, T. S., . . .

Subramanian, G. M. (2009). Changes in B-lymphocyte stimulator protein levels during treatment with albinterferon alfa-2b in patients with chronic hepatitis C who have failed previous interferon therapy. *Hepatol Res, 39*(5), 455-462. doi:10.1111/j.1872-034X.2008.00475.x

- Sadler, A. J., & Williams, B. R. (2008). Interferon-inducible antiviral effectors. *Nat Rev Immunol, 8*(7), 559-568. doi:10.1038/nri2314
- Salazar-Camarena, D. C., Ortiz-Lazareno, P. C., Cruz, A., Oregon-Romero, E., Machado-Contreras, J. R., Munoz-Valle, J. F., . . . Palafox-Sanchez, C. A. (2016). Association of BAFF, APRIL serum levels, BAFF-R, TACI and BCMA expression on peripheral Bcell subsets with clinical manifestations in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus, 25*(6), 582-592. doi:10.1177/0961203315608254
- Sarvaria, A., Madrigal, J. A., & Saudemont, A. (2017). B cell regulation in cancer and antitumor immunity. *Cell Mol Immunol, 14*(8), 662-674. doi:10.1038/cmi.2017.35
- Schreiner, S., & Nassal, M. (2017). A Role for the Host DNA Damage Response in Hepatitis B Virus cccDNA Formation-and Beyond? *Viruses, 9*(5). doi:10.3390/v9050125
- Seeger, C., & Mason, W. S. (2000). Hepatitis B virus biology. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev, 64*(1), 51-68.
- Sene, D., Limal, N., Ghillani-Dalbin, P., Saadoun, D., Piette, J. C., & Cacoub, P. (2007). Hepatitis C virus-associated B-cell proliferation--the role of serum B lymphocyte stimulator (BLyS/BAFF). *Rheumatology (Oxford), 46*(1), 65-69. doi:10.1093/rheumatology/kel177
- Shao, Y., Lo, C. M., Ling, C. C., Liu, X. B., Ng, K. T., Chu, A. C., . . . Man, K. (2014). Regulatory B cells accelerate hepatocellular carcinoma progression via CD40/CD154 signaling pathway. *Cancer Lett, 355*(2), 264-272. doi:10.1016/j.canlet.2014.09.026
- Shimabukuro-Vornhagen, A., Schlößer, H. A., Gryschok, L., Malcher, J., Wennhold, K., Garcia-Marquez, M., . . . Fiedler, A. (2014). Characterization of tumor-associated B-cell subsets in patients with colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget, 5*(13), 4651.
- Shimabukuro-Vornhagen, A., Schlosser, H. A., Gryschok, L., Malcher, J., Wennhold, K., Garcia-Marquez, M., . . . von Bergwelt-Baildon, M. S. (2014). Characterization of

tumor-associated B-cell subsets in patients with colorectal cancer. *Oncotarget, 5*(13), 4651-4664. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.1701

- Shimizu, Y. (2012). T cell immunopathogenesis and immunotherapeutic strategies for chronic hepatitis B virus infection. *World J Gastroenterol, 18*(20), 2443-2451. doi:10.3748/wjg.v18.i20.2443
- Shlomai, A., de Jong, Y. P., & Rice, C. M. (2014). Virus associated malignancies: the role of viral hepatitis in hepatocellular carcinoma. *Semin Cancer Biol, 26*, 78-88. doi:10.1016/j.semcancer.2014.01.004
- Shu, H. B., Hu, W. H., & Johnson, H. (1999). TALL-1 is a novel member of the TNF family that is down-regulated by mitogens. *J Leukoc Biol, 65*(5), 680-683.
- Somboon, K., Siramolpiwat, S., & Vilaichone, R. K. (2014). Epidemiology and survival of hepatocellular carcinoma in the central region of Thailand. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 15*(8), 3567-3570.
- Sopipong, W., Tangkijvanich, P., Payungporn, S., Posuwan, N., & Poovorawan, Y. (2013). The KIF1B (rs17401966) single nucleotide polymorphism is not associated with the development of HBV-related hepatocellular carcinoma in Thai patients. *Asian Pac J Cancer Prev, 14*(5), 2865-2869.
- Steri, M., Orru, V., Idda, M. L., Pitzalis, M., Pala, M., Zara, I., . . . Cucca, F. (2017). Overexpression of the Cytokine BAFF and Autoimmunity Risk. *N Engl J Med, 376*(17), 1615-1626. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1610528
- Stohl, W., Cheema, G. S., Briggs, W. S., Xu, D., Sosnovtseva, S., Roschke, V., . . . Hilbert, D. M. (2002). B lymphocyte stimulator protein-associated increase in circulating autoantibody levels may require CD4+ T cells: lessons from HIV-infected patients. *Clin Immunol, 104*(2), 115-122.
- Tangkijvanich, P., Chittmittraprap, S., Poovorawan, K., Limothai, U., Khlaiphuengsin, A., Chuaypen, N., . . Poovorawan, Y. (2016). A randomized clinical trial of peginterferon alpha-2b with or without entecavir in patients with HBeAgnegative chronic hepatitis B: Role of host and viral factors associated with treatment response. J Viral Hepat, 23(6), 427-438. doi:10.1111/jvh.12467
- Tangkijvanich, P., Sa-Nguanmoo, P., Mahachai, V., Theamboonlers, A., & Poovorawan, Y. (2010). A case-control study on sequence variations in the enhancer II/core

promoter/precore and X genes of hepatitis B virus in patients with hepatocellular carcinoma. *Hepatol Int, 4*(3), 577-584. doi:10.1007/s12072-010-9197-z

- Tarantino, G., Marco, V. D., Petta, S., Almasio, P. L., Barbaria, F., Licata, A., . . . Craxi, A. (2009). Serum BLyS/BAFF predicts the outcome of acute hepatitis C virus infection. *J Viral Hepat, 16*(6), 397-405. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2893.2009.01093.x
- Terrault, N. A., Bzowej, N. H., Chang, K. M., Hwang, J. P., Jonas, M. M., Murad, M. H., & American Association for the Study of Liver, D. (2016). AASLD guidelines for treatment of chronic hepatitis B. *Hepatology*, 63(1), 261-283. doi:10.1002/hep.28156
- Thapa, M., Chinnadurai, R., Velazquez, V. M., Tedesco, D., Elrod, E., Han, J. H., . . . Anania, F. (2015). Liver fibrosis occurs through dysregulation of MyD88dependent innate B-cell activity. *Hepatology*, 61(6), 2067-2079.
- Thompson, J. S., Bixler, S. A., Qian, F., Vora, K., Scott, M. L., Cachero, T. G., . . . Mullen, C. (2001). BAFF-R, a newly identified TNF receptor that specifically interacts with BAFF. *Science, 293*(5537), 2108-2111.
- Treml, J. F., Hao, Y., Stadanlick, J. E., & Cancro, M. P. (2009). The BLyS family: toward a molecular understanding of B cell homeostasis. *Cell Biochem Biophys*, *53*(1), 1-16. doi:10.1007/s12013-008-9036-1
- Trepo, C., Chan, H. L., & Lok, A. (2014). Hepatitis B virus infection. *Lancet, 384*(9959), 2053-2063. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14)60220-8
- Vallet-Pichard, A., Mallet, V., Nalpas, B., Verkarre, V., Nalpas, A., Dhalluin-Venier, V., . . . Pol, S. (2007). FIB-4: an inexpensive and accurate marker of fibrosis in HCV infection. comparison with liver biopsy and fibrotest. *Hepatology, 46*(1), 32-36. doi:10.1002/hep.21669
- Wang, K., Wei, G., & Liu, D. (2012). CD19: a biomarker for B cell development, lymphoma diagnosis and therapy. *Exp Hematol Oncol, 1*(1), 36. doi:10.1186/2162-3619-1-36
- Wang, W. W., Yuan, X. L., Chen, H., Xie, G. H., Ma, Y. H., Zheng, Y. X., . . . Shen, L. S. (2015). CD19+CD24hiCD38hiBregs involved in downregulate helper T cells and

upregulate regulatory T cells in gastric cancer. *Oncotarget, 6*(32), 33486-33499. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.5588

- Wei, X., Jin, Y., Tian, Y., Zhang, H., Wu, J., Lu, W., & Lu, X. (2016). Regulatory B cells contribute to the impaired antitumor immunity in ovarian cancer patients. *Tumour Biol, 37*(5), 6581-6588. doi:10.1007/s13277-015-4538-0
- Wu, C., Zhu, Y., Jiang, J., Zhao, J., Zhang, X. G., & Xu, N. (2006). Immunohistochemical localization of programmed death-1 ligand-1 (PD-L1) in gastric carcinoma and its clinical significance. *Acta Histochem, 108*(1), 19-24. doi:10.1016/j.acthis.2006.01.003
- Wu, H. L., Hsiao, T. H., Chen, P. J., Wong, S. H., Kao, J. H., Chen, D. S., . . . Liu, C. J. (2016). Liver Gene Expression Profiles Correlate with Virus Infection and Response to Interferon Therapy in Chronic Hepatitis B Patients. *Sci Rep, 6*, 31349. doi:10.1038/srep31349
- Xiao, X., Lao, X. M., Chen, M. M., Liu, R. X., Wei, Y., Ouyang, F. Z., . . . Kuang, D. M. (2016). PD-1hi Identifies a Novel Regulatory B-cell Population in Human Hepatoma That Promotes Disease Progression. *Cancer Discov, 6*(5), 546-559. doi:10.1158/2159-8290.CD-15-1408
- Xu, X., Shang, Q., Chen, X., Nie, W., Zou, Z., Huang, A., . . . Zhang, J.-Y. (2015). Reversal of B-cell hyperactivation and functional impairment is associated with HBsAg seroconversion in chronic hepatitis B patients. *Cellular & molecular immunology*, 12(3), 309.
- Xu, X., Shang, Q., Chen, X., Nie, W., Zou, Z., Huang, A., . . . Wang, F. S. (2015). Reversal of B-cell hyperactivation and functional impairment is associated with HBsAg seroconversion in chronic hepatitis B patients. *Cell Mol Immunol, 12*(3), 309-316. doi:10.1038/cmi.2015.25
- Yang, C., Li, N., Wang, Y., Zhang, P., Zhu, Q., Li, F., . . . Liu, Z. (2014). Serum levels of Bcell activating factor in chronic hepatitis B virus infection: association with clinical diseases. *J Interferon Cytokine Res, 34*(10), 787-794. doi:10.1089/jir.2014.0032
- Ye, B., Liu, X., Li, X., Kong, H., Tian, L., & Chen, Y. (2015). T-cell exhaustion in chronic hepatitis B infection: current knowledge and clinical significance. *Cell Death Dis,*
6, e1694. doi:10.1038/cddis.2015.42

- Yuen, M. F., Chen, D. S., Dusheiko, G. M., Janssen, H. L. A., Lau, D. T. Y., Locarnini, S. A., .
 . Lai, C. L. (2018). Hepatitis B virus infection. *Nat Rev Dis Primers, 4*, 18035.
 doi:10.1038/nrdp.2018.35
- Zhou, J., Min, Z., Zhang, D., Wang, W., Marincola, F., & Wang, X. (2014). Enhanced frequency and potential mechanism of B regulatory cells in patients with lung cancer. *J Transl Med, 12*, 304. doi:10.1186/s12967-014-0304-0
- Zhou, X., Su, Y. X., Lao, X. M., Liang, Y. J., & Liao, G. Q. (2016). CD19(+)IL-10(+) regulatory
 B cells affect survival of tongue squamous cell carcinoma patients and induce resting CD4(+) T cells to CD4(+)Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. *Oral Oncol, 53*, 27-35. doi:10.1016/j.oraloncology.2015.11.003
- Zou, Z. Q., Wang, L., Wang, K., & Yu, J. G. (2016). Innate immune targets of hepatitis B virus infection. *World J Hepatol, 8*(17), 716-725. doi:10.4254/wjh.v8.i17.716



CHULALONGKORN UNIVERSITY

VITA

| NAME | Apichaya Khlaiphuengsin |
|-----------------------|--|
| DATE OF BIRTH | 3 March 1989 |
| PLACE OF BIRTH | Bangkok |
| INSTITUTIONS ATTENDED | 2015- present Doctor of Philosophy in Medical Biochemistry, Department of biochemistry, Faculty of medicine, Chulalongkorn University 2010-2012 Master of Medical biochemistry, Department of biochemistry, Faculty of medicine, Chulalongkorn University G.P.A. 3.64 2007-2010 Bachelor degree of biochemistry, Department of biochemistry, Faculty of science, Kasetsart University G.P.A. 2.77 |
| HOME ADDRESS | 90/209 Soi 7/10 Pruklada Outer Ring-Rattanathibet Village, Kanjanaphisek Rd., Soi Bang Rak Yai-Ban Mai, Bang Mae Nang, Bang Yai, Nonthaburi 11140 |
| PUBLICATION | Poungpairoj P, Whongsiri P, Suwannasin S, Khlaiphuengsin A, Tangkijvanich P, Boonla C. Increased Oxidative Stress and RUNX3 Hypermethylation in Patients with Hepatitis B Virus-Associated Hepatocellular Carcinoma (HCC) and Induction of RUNX3 Hypermethylation by Reactive Oxygen Species in HCC Cells. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2015;16(13):5343-8. Limothai U, Chuaypen N, Khlaiphuengsin A, Posuwan N, Wasitthankasem R, Poovorawan Y, et al. Association of interferon- gamma inducible protein 10 polymorphism with treatment response to pegylated interferon in HBeAg-positive chronic hepatitis B. Antivir Ther. 2016;21(2):97-106. Tangkijvanich P, Chittmittraprap S, Poovorawan K, Limothai U, Khlaiphuengsin A, Chuaypen N, et al. A randomized clinical trial of peginterferon alpha-2b with or without entecavir in patients with HBeAg-negative chronic hepatitis B: Role of host and viral factors associated with treatment response. J Viral Hepat. 2016;23(6):427-38. Khlaiphuengsin A, NP TT, Tangkijvanich P, Posuwan N, Makkoch J, Poovorawan Y, et al. Human miR-5193 Triggers Gene Silencing in Multiple Genotypes of Hepatitis B Virus. Microrna. 2015;4(2):123-30. |

5. Chimparlee N, Chuaypen N, Khlaiphuengsin A, Pinjaroen N, Payungporn S, Poovorawan Y, et al. Diagnostic and Prognostic Roles of Serum Osteopontin and Osteopontin Promoter Polymorphisms in Hepatitis B-related Hepatocellular Carcinoma. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2015;16(16):7211-7.

6. Khlaiphuengsin A, Kiatbumrung R, Payungporn S, Pinjaroen N, Tangkijvanich P. Association of PNPLA3 Polymorphism with Hepatocellular Carcinoma Development and Prognosis in Viral and Non-Viral Chronic Liver Diseases. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2015;16(18):8377-82.

7. Sriprapun M, Chuaypen N, Khlaiphuengsin A, Pinjaroen N, Payungporn S, Tangkijvanich P. Association of PINX1 but not TEP1 Polymorphisms with Progression to Hepatocellular Carcinoma in Thai Patients with Chronic Hepatitis B Virus Infection. Asian Pac J Cancer Prev. 2016;17(4):2019-25.

8. Limothai U, Chuaypen N, Khlaiphuengsin A, Chittmittraprap S, Poovorawan Y, Tangkijvanich P. Association of vitamin-D-related genetic variations and treatment response to pegylated interferon in patients with chronic hepatitis B. Antivir Ther. 2017.

1. Young scientist award from Asian Pacific Association for the Study of the Liver Single Topic Conference (APASL STC) 2017 in Nagasaki, Japan in a topic of "Association of TRAIL receptor 1 (TRAIL-R1) polymorphism with treatment response to pegylated interferon in chronic hepatitis B

patients" and a grade

2. AAIAT Award for FIMSA2018 in Bangkok, Thailand in the topic of "PLASMA BAFF AND CXCL10 LEVELS PREDICT TREATMENT RESPONSE TO PEGYLATED INTERFERON IN HBEAG-POSITIVE CHRONIC HEPATITIS B"

AWARD RECEIVED